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STATE OF QHIO )
) s58:
COUNTY OF CUYAHOGA )

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEASE

-_ - = = - = - = - - - - - -4 - - ¥
MATTHEW CHASE WAGONER, etc.,
et al.,
Plaintiffs,
VS. : Case No. 497179
MARKX R. EVANS, M.D., et al., : Carolyn B.
Defendants. : Friedland
el C D - o o f il e e e e Y

DEPCSITION OF JONATHAN H. CRONIN, M.D.,
a witness called on behalf of the Defendant,
Lawrence D. Lilien, M.D., taken pursuant to the
applicable provigions of the Ohio Rules of Civil
Procedure, before Valerie R. Johnston, Registered
Professional Reporter and Notary Public in and for
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, at the Cffices
of 0'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services, at
195 State Street, 5th Floor, Boston,
Maggsachugetts, on Monday, June 19, 2006,

commencing at 32:10 p.m.

(O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.couit-reporting.com
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APPEARANCE S:

Becker & Mishkind Co., L.P.A.
{({by Michael F. Becker, Esqg.)
Becker Haynes Building
134 Middle Avenue
Elyria, Ohio 44035,
on behalf of the Plaintiffs.

Tel: (440) 323-7070

Meoscarino & Treu, LLP
(by John T. Bulloch, Esg.
and George Moscarino, Esd.)
The Hanna Building
1422 Euclid Avenue, Suite 630
Cleveland, Ohio 44115,
on behalf of the Defendant,
Lawrence D. Lilien, M.D.

Tel: {(216) 621-1000
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INDEZX '

WITNESS: DIRECT CROSS REDIRECT RECROSS
Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D.
(by Mr. Bulloch) 4

EXHIBITS

EX. NOC. _ . PAGE NO.
1 Handwritten Notes 8
2 Curriculum Vitae 9
3 Curriculum Vitae 10
4 Letter to Scott Kolodny from

Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. dated

Bugust 20, 2004 96
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PROCEEDINGS

JONATHAN H. CRONIN, M.D.,
having been satisfactorily identified by the
production of Massachusetts Driver's License No.
031420705, and duly sworn by the Notary Public,
was examined and testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR, BULLOCH:

Q. Dr. Cronin, my name is John Bulloch. I
know we met before the deposition began, but for

the record, I represent Fairview Hospltal in this

matter.
Have you had vour deposition ever taken
before?
A. I have.
. Okay. We'll get to that in a minute.

You were kind enough to share with me
vour f£ile that you have in this case, and it looks
like it comprises the records from Parma Community
Hogspital, Fairview Hospital, Dr. Ahmed's
(phonetic}) prenatal records, some records from Dr.
Evans and some records from the free clinic; is

that correct?

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 5
AL That's correct.
Q. And then you also have a couple of
letters from counsel. Have yvou removed anything

from this file?

MR. BECKER: I have.

MR. BULLOCH: Do yvou mind telling me
what you removed and when?

MR. BECKER: Sure. I removed some
e-mall correspondence between Scott Kolodny of my
office -- formerly my office and to the doctor.

MR. BULLOCH: For the record, we believe
we have the right to see those. So just make a
record of that in the transcripi, please.

BY MR. BULLOCH:
0. You also have a report from a Dr.
Rodriguez, Carlo Roedriguez, from University

Hospital in Cleveland.

A. Correct.

0. Do yvou know Dr. Rodriguez, by any
chance?

A, No, I don‘'t.

Q. Okay. And you have a couple of billis in

(Mr. Moscarino entered the conference

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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room. )

MR. BECKER: This is George Moscarino.

THE WITNESS: Hi. How are you?

MR. MOSCARINO: Good to meet you. Sorry
I'm a little late here.

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. Doctor, are these all the bills that
you've generated to date in this matter?

A. That's correct.

0. So vyvou spent an hour writing a report
and two and three-quarter hours reviewing the
case; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Have you ever seen any other -- other

records from thils case?

A No.

O. Any other subsequent care records or
anything?

A. No, other than what I have here. This

is the entire file {indicating).

Q. Have you ever talked to counsel for the
Plaintiff about any of the other Plaintiffs or the
other expert witness reports that have been

generated in this case?

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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A. About their findings?

0. Yes.

A. Once.

0. Do you recall the -- the scope of that

conversation? I mean, was 1t the Plaintiffs’
experts that you were reviewing?

A, I didn't review. It was -~ it was a
discussion between -- it was a phone discussion

between me and the Plaintiffs' counsel.

Q. Was that with Mr. Becker?

A That's correct.

Q QOkay. Was that pretty recent?

A Yes.

0 And was it predominantly a digcussion

about defense experts or about Plaintiffs’

exparts?
A, Plaintiffs' experts.
Q. Did you have any other conversations

about any other reports that have been generated
in this case by any of the defense experts?

Al No, I have not.

Q. And then you have a -- it looks like two
pages of handwritten notes, correct?

A, Correct.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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0. I assume these were notes that vou took
as you were reviewing Matthew Wagner's records.

A. That's correct.

0. You had Dr. Lilien's deposition
transcript as well, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Have vou seen any of the other

deposition transcripts that have been generated in

this case?

A. I have not.

. Have vou had any discussion with
Plaintiffs' counsel about any of the testimony
that's been offered by any of the other witnesses
in this case?

A I have not.

MR. BULLOCH: Go ahead and mark that as
Exhibit 1, please.
{Document marked as Exhibit 1
for identification)

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. Doctor, I'm going to hand back to you
vour two pages of notes, which we've marked
Exhibit No. 1. I'll probably ask you to read

portions of these into the record, and I don't

O'Brien & Levine Couwrt Reporting Services
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believe I asked vyou this, but did you review any
of the x-ray films that were generated?

A. I've never geen an x-ray film.

0. Qkay. 8o, cbviously, vyou've locoked at
reports from the radiologist, correct? |

A That's correct.

MR. BULLOCH: ©Okay. Mark this Exhibit
2, please.
{(Document marked as Exhibit 2
for identification)

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. Doctor, I'll hand vyou what's been marked
as Exhibit 2, which is a copy of yvour CV that was
provided to us by Plaintiffs' counsel, which is -~
which would be 23 pages long, correct?

A, (Witness reviews document) No. This is

not my CV. I have things from Barry Pregsman.

Q. I am sorry. Something got stapled
together.

A. This 1s not my CV {(indicating).

Q. All right. We got some -~ how these got
put together -- I'm sorry, Doctor. 1I'll correct

that.

MR. BULLOCH: Off the record.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page 9




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

O o

10
11
12
13
14
15
i6
17
18
i9
20
21
22
23

24

CV dated as of March 20th, 20067

do vyou, by any chance?

vou have (indicating)?

that as Exhibit 3.

as Exhibit 3 hag a new date of June 6th, 2006.

Page 10 |
(Discussion off the record)

MR. BULLOCH: Back on the record.
BY MR. BULLOCH:
0. I apologize for the mix-up.

You now have in front of you what's your

MR. BECKER: Ig this a copy?

MR. BULLOCH: Yeah.

(Witness reviews document) Yes.

Do you have a more current CV, sir?

Yes, I do.

oo 0 P

You don't happen to have one with vyou,

2. Yeg, I do (indicating).

0. Terrific. Ig this the only copy that

A, Yes.

MR. BULLOCH: All right. Can we mark

(Document marked as Exhibit 3
for identification)
BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. The CV that vou handed me we've marked

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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This is your most current CV?
A Correct.
0. Are there any additions or deletions to

thig CV that you would add at this time?

A. Not significant onesg that I recall.

0. Okay. And, since vou have the March
20th, 2006, CV in front of vyou, could you tell me
what is different on what we marked as Exhibit 2
and what's marked as Exhibit 3.

A (Witness reviews documents) There may be
a small change in -- in a hospital affiliation

that I have, but it's essentially the same. I

Jjust keep my CV up to ~- up to date ~~
Q. Okay.
A. ~— but there's no -- there's no

significant change between the two.

0. A1l right. And, as far as hospital
affiliation, you mean hospitals that you're
currently practicing in?

A. Correct.

Q. Are there any new articles or book
chapters or abstracts or reviews or anything of
that nature that vou've added to this CV?

A. No, not since the ocne in March.

{O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 12
Q. Okay. I'll hand you back your current

CV, and I'll work off the old one. Fair enough?

A Okay .

0. You tell me if I'm making any errors in
any assumptions or if there's been any changes
that I might not have.

I understand that you have -- you are
dual boarded, correct?

A, That's correct.

0. Pediatrics was a sub-board in

neonatal and perinatal medicine?

A. That's correct.

Q. Is the latter board held by most
necnatologists?

A. That's correct.

Q. Is it also the same board that's held by

perinatologists, or are they basically the same

thing?
A, No. That's a different beoard.
0. Ckay. So the neonatal perinatal

medicine board is actually for neonatologists?
A. That's correct.
0. Okay. Have vou had that board

recertified? Have vou ever been recertified in

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 13

that board?

A. I have not, because it has not been
required.

O. Okay. You're kind of grandfathered --

A. Grandfathered.

Q. -- in for lifev?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. I understand from your prior CV

that we had, which is roughly two and a half
months old, that you were -- are an assistant

professor in pediatrics.

A. That's correct.

Q And that's with Harvard Medical School?
AL That's correct.

0 Is that a clinical position, Doctor?

A I don't understand.

Q. Well, let me explain. We see a lot of
people that have professorships or have academic
appointments, and what they're really doing is
nmentoring people, second and third-year law
school -- in your case, NICU. You're trying to
teach them medicine clinically as opposed to
didactic, where there's a lot of lectures and

classroom type instruction. Is yours more the

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 14 ;
former or the latter? '
A. It's a combination of both.
0. Okay. So vyou actively give lectures at

Harvard Medical School?

A, Not at Harvard Medical School. I give
didactic lectures to people at Massachusetts
General Hospital, trainees, and I alsgso do bedside
teaching with the residents when I'm rounding.

0. and the latter is more what I mean by
clinical professorship.

Now, the lectures that you give at Mass.
General, are those to residents, or is that more
nursing staff or --

A. Residents - pediatric residents,
pediatric clinical care fellows, neonatology
fellows, nursing staff and an occasional medical
student.

Q. Okay. I also noticed in your =-- your CV
yvou had a lot of ECMO.

A. Correct.

Q. Ig that predominantly what you give
lectures in?

A It's one of the things that I talk a lot

about.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Q. Good.

You're an assistant professor. The next
step would be -- asgociate professor is the next
step up?

A, Correct.

Q. And then a full professorship, correct?
A Correct.

Q. All right. You also listed in your

current hospital appointments pediatrics at Mass.

General --

AL Correct.

0. o and a neonatologist at the Brigham,
correct? |

AL Correct.

Q. Okay. I guess, I'm a little bit
confused. Are you -- are you -- are -~ why don't

vou tell me what you practice in terms of both
locations.

A, These are hospital titles, and
Massachusetts General Hospital does not have a
hospital title for being a neonatologist. They
just have hospital title for, I think it's, junior
pediatrician --

Q. 211 right.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 16

A -- and then pediatrician.

Q. Ckay.

AL Whereas at the Brigham, because they
only have a neonatal intensive care unit -- they

don't have a pediatric department over at the
Brigham -- you're either a junior necnatoloeogist or

a neonatologist.

0. I see.

A. These are just sort of all hospital
titles.

0. Okay. And correct me if I'm wrong;

is most of your clinical respongibilities in
NICUs?

A. Neonatal intensive care units and
step-down units, Level 2 nurseries.

Q. Okay. You don‘t have an active
pediatric practice where you're giving kids MMR
shots or things of that nature?

A. That is correct.

0. You're not treating kids with
inflammation of tympanic membrane or things of |
that nature?

A, That 1s correct. I do not.

0. Is it fair to gay that a hundred percent

O’'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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of vour clinical time is spent in the NICU?
A, Or Level 2 nursery, ves.
Q. Or Level 2 nursery. Thank vyou.

L.et me ask vou about that. What
percentage of vour time would you estimate you're
in a Level 2 nursery as opposed to a Level 3
nursery?

A. My Level 3 nursery fime -- let me
rephrase that.

Cf my clinical time, the vast majority

of that is neonatal intensive care units, and

the -~ the minority isg in Level 2s.
Q. Okay. Can you -- and I'm not --
A. I can gquantify that.
Q. I am not going to hold vou to these

numbers, but yeah. Can vou gquantify that for me
little further.

A This academic vyear and those in the
recent past, I've done approximately 12 weeks a
vear in the neonatal intensive care unit being on

service, and I‘'ve done --

Q. And that's a Level 3 nursery?
AL Correct.
Q. I don't mean to interrupt vyou.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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1 So that's roughly 25 percent of your

2 time in Level 37

3 AL Correct.

4 0. Okay.

5 A. And approximately three to four weeks a
6 veary in a Level 2 nursery.

7 Q. Okay. Either vyou have got a great

3 vacation planned, or my -- my math is really

9 failing me. What do you do the rest of the time?

10 A. I do 40 to 50 nights a vear of night
11 call.

12 O. Okay. And what does that entail?

13 A. That entails being the senior

14 neonatologist in-house at night, nights, holidays

15 and weekends --

i6 0. Okavy.

17 A. -- covering the NICU, covering the Level
18 2, backing up the -~ the labor and delivery, being
i9 the senior person in the house.

20 C. Okay. And, as senior person in the

21 house, that's -- what did you say -- 40 or 50

22 nights a year?
23 A. Correct.

24 Q. Okay. Do vou also get summoned to

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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the -- to the pediatric wards?
A, No, I do not.
Q. Ckay.
A That 1s not my responsibility.

Q. Okay. What do you do the rest of your
time professionally?

A. A lot of administration time, being the
acting chief of the unit. Before that, I was the
associate chief of the unit, and I try to write a

chapter in a textbook every several vears.

Q. And I noticed that, and I planned Lo get
to that in a moment, but you -- well, let mé go to
this.

You -- there were -- there were a number

éf things that I wanted to talk to you about just
to get a better understanding of what your
practice is all about.

You stated that or your CV lists MGPO

Management Education Program for Specialist

Leaders.

A. Correct.

Q. I assume MGPO ils Mass. General Physician
Organization.

A. That is correct.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 20
0. And that's essentially a group of

doctors in private practice, correct?

A. Not really, no.

. Okay. Why don't -- why don't vou tell
me what 1t 1s, Doctor.

A. There are two corporate entities.
Number one 1s Massachusetts General Hospital, and
they have they have thelr own corporate board of
trustees. Very closely affiliated is the
Massachusetts General Physicians Organization.
That is the organization that employs all of the

physicians that work at Mass. General Hospital

and -- but it is a -- but it is --

0. A wholly-owned subsidiary of the
hospital?

A Not of -- not of the hospital. It's
a -- it's a separate corporation and has separate
bcard --

Q. Okay .

A, -—- but, of course, they work very

closely together --

Q. Okay.
A. -- but they are distinct, separate
entities.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Page 21
Q. Okay. And then you're under contract .
through the -- through the MGPO?
A. That is correct.
0. And then the MGPO, I assume, contracts

with Mass. General to provide physicians in --

A. That is correct.

Q. -- every specialty.

Al That's correct.

Q. Now, there's Management Education
Program for Specialist Leaders. I mean, that's a

mouthful, but I assume that you're being groomed
or you were in that program being groomed for some
type of administrative position; is that fair?

A. Back in 1997, there was an opportunity
to, you know, get gome education about, you know,
management education, sort of a mini-B school, if
vou will, and it was something that I was
interested in, so I took it. It was a week-long

course that I toock.

Q. A mini M.B.A. program?
A Correct.
0. Okay. Now, vou algo list -- and I want

to get this right for the record, so I apologize

for reading, but MGPO Physician Practice Leaders,

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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and what -- what was that all about? I think that
went from 2002.

A. From 2002 to 2003, the MGPO Physician
Practice Leaders Forum. That was a monthly
meeting of people who ~~ some of whom had gone
through the management education program, but I
had selected myself, if you will, something that
I'm interested in -- in furthering my career
through medical management, and the following vear
the MGPO Physician Leadership Development series
just sort of followed hand-in-hand, and this was
a -- again, thig is an attempt by the MGPO to take
physicians who are interested in becoming more

administrative leaders in the organization.

Q. Okay. What's vyour role with the MGPO
currently?

A. T'm a physician within the group.

Q. Sure.

a, And, number two, I'm an elective member

of the MGP0O Executive Committee.

. Okay. And what's yvour role in the
executive committee?

A. I go to meetings twice a month and

represent subspecialists' interests.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
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Q. Okay. And I assume to represent
subspecialists interests vou're dolng some -~ you
Just don't go to these meetings and represent your
subspecialists’ interests, correct?

A That's correct. I represent -- I'm one
of two, I believe, sub -- subspecialist -- elected
subspecialist representatives, and my job is to

represent the outlook of MGPO subspecialists.

Q. All subspecialistg?
AL Yes.
0. Wow .

And do you have to meet with the various
subspecialists from time to time to get a feel of
what their interests are? I mean, you're going to
represent them in front of the executive
committee. How do yvou go about obtaining the data
or the information you need to -- to represent
their interests?

A. Well, there are three -- it's a
three~year term, and there are three -- three of
us who are subspecialists who represent the
subspecialist members.

I —- I know a lot about pediatrics; I

know a lot about obstetrics and, certainly, a
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certain degree of anesthesia. So people who I --

who come along sort of in my practice, and there
are two others, who are usually medicine and
surgical types, who span out and -- and get the
opinions of others.

It's not -- it's not a formal I sit down

with all the subspecialists --

Q. Okay.
A. -- or anything like that.
Q. What percentage of your time do vyou

think you're involved in just that aspect of being

on the executive committee?

A 5 percent.

Q. 5 percent?

A. It's small.

Q. A1l right. You -- you've got numerous

commitiee assignments on your CV, too, correct?

A Correct.
Q. And, just for the record, could you tell
me what those currently are. I guess -- well, vyou

tell me where vou start, but on my older version
of this, I guess, I would start at chailrman of
Emerson Hospital Perinatal Committee.

A, Starting in 19 -- that's correct. I've

O’Brien & Levine Cowrt Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Page 25
done that since 1897.
0. That's current?
A, Yeah. That is correct.
Q. Okay. Go on. Can you tell me the rest
of the committees that you're -- the major

committee assignments, as you put it, that you're
currently involved in.
A. Sure.
Q. You know what; I am sorry. I'm going to
ask vou to back up. I misread this.
There's major committee assignments on

the national and regional level as well, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Arelyou still on both of those?

A Yes, I am.

Q. What 1s the Technical Advisory Group on

Neonatal Intensive Care?

A. It's an ad hoc group put together by the
Department of Public Health and the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts that's called every now and then
when people of DPH.have technical advisory
guestions about neonatal intensive care unit.

Q. So this is a formal committee that sits

down from time to time?
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A It's an ad hoc group. It's met about
four times in the last 10 years.
Q. QOkay. Is there any administrative work

that you're doing for that particular advisory

group?
A No.
Q. What percentage of your time do you

think is involved in thig particular group?

A, Minuscule.

Q. Okay. Fair enough.

The AAP Neonatal Resuscitation Program,

what's that all about, sir? |

A, That's a -- the education work group.
It's, agaln, a very small amount of work, which
usually has to do with e-mail questions and
putting together teaching materials for the AAP,

Neonatal Resuscitatien Program.

Q. The AAP being the American Academy of
Pediatrics?

A, That's correct.

Q. This is a national program, cbhviously.

A. International.

Q. International.

Can vou give me a percentage that you
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spend con national and regional matters?

A, It's -~ 1it's small. I mean, one to 2
percent.

Q. Okay. And then, as I said -- I'm sorry

I skipped those very important assignments, but
yvou were starting with the chairman of Emerson
Hospital Perinatal Committee.

A. Right. Emerson Hospital is a Level 2
nursery, which ig affiliated with Partners Health
Care, which is a conglomerate here in Boston.

0. I'm familiar with that.

A. And I'm the -- I'm the medical director
of the Level 1 and Level 2 nurseries at Emerson,
and as part of those responsibilities, I'm
chairman of the perinatal committee, which is a
committes that's mandated by the Department of
Public Health. Every hospital perinatal service
has to have that, and I'm also chairman of the
Emerson Hospital Neonatal Care Review Committee
where we go over certain casesg that meet certain
criteria. It's a peer review committee.

Q. By peer review committee, I assume that
meets monthly at least.

A Correct. Yes,
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0. Okay. What about the other two :

committees that yvou mentioned; how cften do they
meet?

A, The other two?

Q. I thought you said there were two. I
only see one, but I thought vou mentioned two.

A. There's the perinatal committee and then
the neonatal peer review committee at Emerson
Hospital.

0. Are those the only two committees vou
served on at Emerson currently?

A That's correct, ves.

Q. Okay. And vyou're a chairman, so you,
obviously, have some role in putting together

agendas and -~

A. I do that with the nurse manager,
correct.
Q. Maybe, thig is an easier way to break

that down. About what percentage of vyour time do
you think is involved in the administrative

responsibilities just at Emerson?

A 3 percent.
Q. Ckay.
A. I hope you don't think this is all going

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO{3376) * www.court-reporting.com




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D., et al.

Page 29
1 to add up to a hundred.

2 0. No, I don't, but I expect it to be very
3 cloge. I'm kidding.

4 Then you have Mass. -- Mass. General

5 Hospital Fetal Maternal Task Force. Ig that the

6 next thing that vou're currently still serving on?

7 AL Yes, although that committee has been
8 dormant for -- for about six months to a year and
9 may come back. Unclear. I do not chair that.
10 Q. Okay .
11 A. T'm just a member of it.
12 0. We talked about the MGPO --
13 A, Correct.
14 Q. -- Executive Committee, correct?
15 A. That's correct.

16 Q. Ckay. Did we talk about the MGPO
17 Physician Practice Advisory Council?
18 A. No. That's -~ the Physician Practice
19 Advisory Council was a -- on Page 1, after the

20 physician MGPO Physician Leadership Development
21 series ended -- that was a year-long process --
22 they formed with the same group of us the

23 Physician Practice Advisory Council. So we are a

24 group that meets on a monthly basis to basically

et " T
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Page 30
advise the leadership of the MGPO on issues

regarding physician practice.

0. Okay. And what percentage of your time
would you estimate you spend in that practice --

A. We -

-- advisory council?

A We meet once a month. Again, it's
small. It's two to 3 percent.

Q. Okay. And then the MGPO Continuity of
Care Task Force, are you still active in that,
sir?

A, I am. That hasn't been -- I'm not the
chairman of it. I'm a member of i1t, and it hasn't
really gone anywhere in recent time.

Q. Okay. And did we talk about the Mass.
General Hospital General Executive Committee.
This is different, isn't it?

A. Thig i1g different. I --

Q. This is the general executive committee

of the entire hospital?

A. That's correct.

o Mass. General?

A. That is correct.

Q And what's vyour role in that?

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com



Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

ib

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

A It meets twice a month. I go to both of
those meetings as representing the MGPO.

Q. And what percentage of vour time do vou
think vyou spend in that role preparing for going
to meetings and so forth?

A. Again, it's, probably, 3 percent. It
meets twice a month.

Q. Okay. You have certain departmental
responsibilities ag well, and the first one I'm
showing is -- well, let me back up before I ask
vou that.

Are there any other hospital-wide
committees that you're currently serving on that
we haven't already talked about?

A Ne.

0. QOkay. The departmental, would you cover
thogse for me, sir. The first one that I have is

Mass. General Newborn Services Collaborative

Practice --
A Collaborative Practice Committee.
That's a monthly meeting -- interdisciplinary

meeting for all of us who are involved in the care
of neonates. We meet once a month.

Q. Okay .
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A. The Vincent Memorial Obstetrics --

Q. Before yvou go on to that, how much
time of vyour time do you think vou spend on this?

A. It's -~ we meet -- we meet once a month,
and there may or may not be some work to do that,
but we meet once a month.

o. Two or 3 percent?

A, It's small. Obviously, it might be
less, because two to 3 percent might be when I'm
meeting twice a month.

0. Okay. How long do all of these meetings
usually last?

A. Well, it depends. The GEC meetings,
General Executive Council, are two-hour meetings.
MGPO meetings are usually two-hour meetings. This
one here is a one-hour meeting.

0. Okay. I understand vou have certain
committeeg that you just basically get ready for
and go to and others that you do a subgtantial

amount of work -~

A, Correct.

Q -- to prepare for?

A, Correct.

Q Okay. Then vou started telling me about
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the Vincent -~

A. Memorial Obstetrics Division Work Group.
That's another interdigciplinary meeting chaired
by obstetrics and perinatclogy, and I represent
neonatology in that group.

Q. The same amount of time spent on that, 2

to 3 percent?

A It's two hours, and it's twlice a month.

Q. So, maybe, that's a little more?

A. Right.

Q. What would you estimate that at, 5
percent?

A, Yeah. Four to 5 percent.

Q. Okay. And then you have membership and
professional societies. Are you involved in -- I

understand what membership entails, but somebody
of yvour level, are vou also involved in any type

of administrative capacity with any of these

organizations?

A No, I'm not.

0. Doctor, maybe, I should have asked vyou
this before, but -- wait a minute.

Oout of all of the administrative

responsibilities that you have, 1f you'd sit down
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and compare the number of days that yvou're in the
NICU, the number of days that yvou're on-call, can
vou kind of convert that to hours? And then the
number of hours you're involved in an
administrative capacity, what percentage of total
professional time would you estimate is involved
in some type of administrative capacity?
A. Probably, around 40 percent.
Q. And that's the best estimate you can
give me today?
A. Uh-huh.
MR. BECKER: Can we take a two-minute
break.
MR. BULLOCH: Sure.
(Recess)
BY MR. BULLOCH:
0. Doctor, vyou'wve been deposed before how

many times?

AL Less than a dozen.
Q. Okay. Well, vou probabkly know the
ground rules, but just to remind vou. I mean,

yvou'ire doing a great job, and you're verbalizing
vour answers, but for the court reporter's

benefit, she can't really record nods of the head.
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We're all guilty of that.
A. Ckay.
0. This 1s not the normal way we have

conversations, and as she said, 1f you could just
walit until I finish my question, I'll try like
hell to not interrupt your answers. I'm probably
worse at this than vou are, so...
All right. Doctor, vyvou -- vyvou told me
about your activity in Level 2 and Level 3
nurseries, and wasg that -- the percentage that you
spent in Level 2 wversus Level 3 nurseries today,
was that also true in 19997
A, Yes.,
O, Wag that about the same percentage?
Okay. What's the difference between a
Level 2 and Level 3 nursery?

L. Well, within the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, Level 2 nurseries are defined by
the ability to provide continuous positive airway
pressure, nasal CPAP, as their highest mode of
respiratory care, and only some nurseries can do
that. It's a very highly regulated, complex
process in Massachusetts.

0. Is that true only in Massachusetts?
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Because we all have level -- I've seen Level 2 and
Level 3 nurseries through the country. Is that
individually state licensed and regulated?

A. In general, ves. There are some states
where yvou can do mechanical ventilation, if you're
a Level 2 nursery. It's -- 1t can get very
complicated, but in Massachusetts, what a nursery
can do and how 1it's graded Level 3, Level 2A.
Level 2ZB ig highly regulated by the Department
of -- the Department of Public Health.

Q. Okay. These organizations that vyou're
involved in, do any of -- have they promulgated
directives or -- or guidelines to what they
believe should be a Level 2 versus a Level 3
nursery?

A. A couple of yvears ago the American
Academy of Pediatrics came out with a policy
statement, for lack of a better word, trying to
make a little method to the madness on a national
level.

Q. Did that have any impact?

A, In Massachusetts, it has. I can't speak
for other states.

0. Well, in -- and I'm not asking you to
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from vour perspective or anything, but just for --
obviously, I'm sure you go to a lot of seminars,
and you, probably, talk at a lot of seminars, and
I'm sure vou're in contact with other physicians
that are neonatologists. Do-you find a big
difference between Level 2 and three nurseries in

Massachusetts as opposed to most other states?

A, As 1t relates to community hospitals,
it =~ it can be, ves.
0. Ckay. Would vou agree with me that

Level 3 ig kind of the gold standard? I mean, I

assume there's not a Level 4, correct?

A. Actually, there is a Level 4 --

0. Oh.

A. -- a Level 4 category in the new AAP
guidelines.

Q. Okay. But not in Massachusetts?

A. That is correct.

Q. So I assume you would agree with me

Level 3, at least in Massachusetts, is kind of the

golden standard, correct?

A, That's correct.
0. Now, when vou're a neonatologist in a
NICU, are yvou -- are you essentially the attending
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physician?

A. That's correct.

o. And what's the role of consultants that
come into the NICU -- consultants -- for example,

a pediatric neurologist? Can you explain that for
me, what their role is as opposed to your role as
a neonatologist.

A, Well, in the NICU at Massachusetts
General Hospital, where I've worked for 12 vyears,
all of the patients are admitted under my name,

and I am the attending neonatologist.

Q. You're the captain of the ship?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay.

A. And I will ask for a consultant -~ I

will reguest a consultation on a certain
subsgpecialist to help me care for a certain
patient.

Q. Okay. So, when vou call in a

subspecialist, it's for that specific purpose,

correct?
A Yes.
Q. For example, if you call in an

orthopaedic surgeon, it's to evaluate a child for
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some orthopaedic condition, correct?
A Correct.
Q. When vou call in a cardiologist, it's

for some cardiac manifestation, correct?
A, Correct.
0. Now, when you call in a pediatric

neurologist, it's for a neurologic deficit; fair

enough?
A. Neurclogic --
Q Deficit or neuroclogical condition.
A. -- issue.
] Symptom. Issue. Thank vou.

Okay. So, obviocusgly, vou're in the NICU
all of the time you're working clinically as
opposed to a pediatric neurologist who might have
office hours and be doing other things, correct?

A Yes.
Q. So, when I'm talking to yvou, I'm talking
to the guy that should know the most about what

goes on in a NICU; is that fair enough?

A, Yes.
Q. Okay. The way ~-- and I think vou
answered this, but in -- in Massachusetts, at

least, who determines 1f a NICU is a Level 2 or a
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Level 3; is that the state?
AL Yes.
Q. Okay. And the primary determinant is

whether or net vou can give oxygen under pressure?

A, It's much more complicated than that.
Q. Okay.
A. We have department -- we have perinatal

regulations that are promulgated by the Department
of Public Health. They are arcund 300 or 400
pages long.

Q. Okay .

A. And, within those pages, ﬁhey delineate
exactly what yvou need to have to be a Level 1, a
Level 2 or a Level 3 as it pertains to staffing,

equipment, consultants, the whole ball of wax.

Q. Okay. In your mind, the major
determinant -- and tell me if this isn't fair, but
I'm just trying to get -- in your mind, the major

determinant is the ability to give oxyvgen under
positive pressure?

A, Nasal -- it's Just -- 1t's not that
simple, because in Massachusetts, we have Z2A
nurseries, which can't give nasal CPAP --

Q. Okay.
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A ~-- but 2B nurseries can give nasal CPAP.
. Can they also -- can Level 2 nurseries

in Massachusetts also vent a baby?

A No, they -- no, they cannot.
Q. Ckay. Only a Level 3 nursery can
vent -- put a baby on a ventilatoxr?
A. That is correct.
Q. Qkay. And a Level 2 nursery that had a

baby that needed a ventilator would transfer that
patient or should transfer the patient to a Level
3 nursery; fair enough?

A. That is correct.

Q. You don't give surfactant, unless vyou're
on a ventilator, correct?

A Unless yvou have an endotracheal tube in
place.

Q. Would you have an endotracheal tube in
place and not be on a vent?

A. You might be on a -- a bag, an
anesthesia bag.

0. Ckay . In your experience, do Level 2
nurseries in Massachusetts frequently or
infreguently administer surfactant to babies?

A, For babies that are to be transferred
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fregquently.

0. So they might start it, the surfactant,

and then transfer the kaby; is that what vyou're

saying?
2. That is correct.
Q. Rut that would be not under ventilation:

that would be with a bag?

A. Depending upon -- correct, depending
upon whether the particular Level 2 hospital had a
ventilator.

Q. Okay. Well, wait a minute, thoucgh.
Didn't you tell me that a Level 2 can't put a baby
on a vent?

A. We're getting into semantics here in
Massachusetts between Level 2A nurseries and Level
2B nurseries.

Q. Okay.

A. The Level 2A nurseries that I work at do
not have infant ventilators. If there is a baby
born who they feel needs surfactant, the child
will be intubated, and then surfactant will be
given by either the person who is there or the
transport team when they arrive --

Q. Okay .
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A. -~ and then the baby will be

transported.
Q. OCr, I suspect, sometimes they might wait

until the baby 1s actually transported and then

administer the surfactant at the Level 3 nursery,

correct?
A. That happens very infrequently today.
Q. Okay. At least the first dose?
A. That happens very infregquently today.

Transport teams in Massachusetts all give
surfactant on transport.

Q. Okay. And, again, they would not be
giving multiple doges on transport, would they?

A. No. Just the first dose.

Q. Just the first dose. Ckayv.

Do you give it the same way when you're

using -- when you're giving it with a vent? Do

you have to pogition the baby so many different

ways —-—
A, Yes,
Q. -—- to enter the tube?
b, There's a protocol that we follow, ves.
Q. Okay. Is there a difference in the

level of skill of a necnatologist working in a
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Level 2 versus Level 3 nursery, in yvour mind?

A. I feel that neonatologists who primarily
work in Level 3 NICUs are -- are more skilled at
dealing with those types of issues as opposed to a
level -- ag opposged to a neonatologist who works
in a Level 2 nursery and occasionally goes to work
in a Level 3 NICU.

0. They're seeing sicker babies,
essentially, in a Level 3 nursery?

A. Correct.

Q. They might have a little bit more
training; they might be a little more competent --
I am sorry. I interrupted yvou. You nodded your
head ves, correct?

A. I think there's -- let me leave it at
thig: I think there's a difference between
neonatoleogists who work primarily in -- in NICUs
and deal with acate_issues in newborns as opposed
to the neonatologists who work primarily in Level
28 and then episodically go into NICUs for,
perhaps, a little refresher.

0. Tell me briefly what goes on in a Level
3 nursery. T mean, there's a lot of monitors,

obviously; there's a lot of staff, correct?
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A. Correct.

Q. The monitors, what are you -- what are
yvou monitoring these babies for when vou have a --
in a Level 3 nursery hooked up to all of these
machines? What exactly are you typically
monitoring on a neonate?

A, The basic monitor, we're monitoring
their heart rate, their respiratory rate, their
blood pressure and their oxygen saturation.

Q. Okay. And these monitors -- let's move
back to 1999. These monitors, I assume, have
certain levels that are preset, and once the level
goes outside of that preset normal limit, then I
assume 1t alarms, correct? |

A. That's correct.

Q. The reason I ask you this is I've been
in a NICU before, and there's a lot of alarms
going off all the time, correct?

A Correct.

Q. But there's a lot of nurses, too, isn't
there, in mosgt NICUs?

A, Correct.

O, Is there a certain staffing reguirement

for NICUs that you're aware of?
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A. The patient/nurse ratio is determined by
the nufsing staff, depending upon the acuity of
the patient.

Q. Okay. A child with RDS, respiratoxry
distress syndrqme, is that typically one-on-one,
or is the nurse covering two patients?

A. If the -~ 1f the patient ig -- I'm
talking a little bit about my -- yvou know, this is
more of a nursing expertise, but what I‘ve
observed through the years is that, if you had
a -- a baby who is severely 1ll with hyaline
membrane disease, 1t's one-to-one; but most often
these days it's -- it's two patients to one nurse.

Q. Ckay. And I assume the nurse is
watching patients that are next to each other, so
she can watch both monitors? And, again, in your
experience.

A. It depends upon -- it depends upon the
nursing staff and --

Q. Okay .

A, -— how they work that. I don't get
involved in that part.

Q. I understand, but certainly, vou've been

in NICUs long enough, and vou've got leadership
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positions in NICUs, that you, certainly, feel

gualified to say what the nurses seem to be doing
with yvour patients, correct?

A. True. Yes.

Q. Okay. I assume the nurse i1s making fine
adjustments based con some orders that have been
provided by the doctors or standing orders of
certain things happening to the baby.

Al Correct.

Q. For example, if the oxygen saturation
goes up, the nurse might have the authority to
increase the rate of nasal oxygen flowing into the
baby's or into the bassinet?

Al She would -- she would be given an order
to increase the amount of fractional inspired
oxygen that the patient is receiving.

Q. Ckay. If the baby's blood pressure
would drop, I would assume they have the ability
to increase the rate of IV, for example.

A. Not increase their rate of an IV, but
might be able to increase the amount of a certain
cardiac drug to monitor blood pressure, to support
blood pressure.

Q. And, certainly, the nurse would be
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informing vou of changes in the patient's
condition as well, correct?
A
the resident team that is taking care of that.
0.
Darnall of Dartmouth?
A
Q.
AL
names of gome of the people in the New England
neonatal groups. I believe I may have met him at
a conference on Cape Cod once.
0.
A
o.
A,
Q.
General, vou feel Dartmouth is a fine facility, a
wonderful hospital?
A

with Dartmouth, other than football.

Page 48 :

That is correct. Maybe, me, the fellow,
Doctor, are you familiar with Dr. Robert

I know the name.
How do you know the name?

I may have met him -- I know some of the

So you know him as a neonatologist?
I believe so, ves.

He's at Dartmouth?

I believe go.

I assume you -- even though you're Mass.

I don't have any firsthand experience

MR. BULLOCH: Okay. Off the record.
(Discussion off the record)

MR. BULLOCH: RBack on the record.
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BY MR. BULLOCH:
0. Do you know Dr. Darnall as having a

subspecialty in pulmonary diseases of the neonate?

A. I didn't know that.

Q Okay. I assume you respect Dr. Darnall.
A. I don't really know him.

Q Okay. Failr enough.

Do you know a Dr. Marcus Hermansen?
MR. BECEKER: Hermansen.
0. Hermansen.
MR. BULLOCH: Thank vou.
A, I know the name.
How do yvou know his name?

A, His name? Primarily I've seen it on an
Internet chat board that has to do with necnatal
intensive care units.

0. Is that a -- is that a neonatal chat
site that you frequently participate in?

A. I don't usually participate in it. It's
a message board as opposed to a chat room, and I
sometimes scan through some of the postings that
have been put out there, and I've seen his name,
because I know he is in New Hampshire.

0. Do vyou respect Dr. Hermansen?
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A. I don't know Dr. Hermansen personally or

clinically.
Q. Ckay. Doctor, I wanted to go to your

list on vour CV of your articles and on somewhat
on your presentations. There are a substantial
number of presentationg that vou've made over the
vears, but I guesg, the easiest way to ask this
is, which of these numerous pubklications or
presentations do you believe are directly related
to the facts at issue in this case as vyou
understand the factsg at issue?

A, (Witness reviews document) Well,
specifically you would have to go towards my
bibliography, and I -- I have written, vou know,
numerous chapters on dealing with the respiratory
problems of infants.

Q. And, as we've talked before, a lot on
articles on extracorporal membrane oxygenation or
BCMO?

A In my presentations, ves. I'm sorry. I
Jumped ahead to my bibliocgraphy.

Q. Okay. Your bibliography lists three
journal articles; is that correct?

A, Correct.
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O. Has there been any additional ones since

the one that would have been published in 1991 on

my CV?
A No.
Q. Ckay. And then book chapters, vou've

contributed to 10 textbooks, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Is there any -- let me back up.

Is there any specific article that vyou
published in peer review literature that's
relevant to the -- you know, directly relevant to
the facts at issue in this case?

A. In my review, where I wrote about high
frequency ventilator therapy for newborns, you
know, again, we did discuss pulmonary disease.

0. Sure. And -- and that high freguently
ventilator therapy, is it another ECMQ --

primarily centered towards ECMO, or no?

A, No. It's a different type of
technology.

Q. Okay. Can vou explain the difference to
me as a lay person. I didn't know there was a
difference.

A, Between?
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o _ o Page 52
Q. ECMO and high freguency ventilator

therapv.
A. Oh. Well, high freguency ventilator is

a -- it's a special kind of ventilator that

breathes at very, very high ratesg, about 600 to
900 breaths per minute. It's very small breaths
at very, very high rates, and that's what the

machine deoes.

Q. Okay. 1Is that high pressure or low
pregsure?

A, It's usually low pressure --

Q Okay.

A, -- but very high rates.

Q Ckavy.

A So high frequency ventilator therapy.

ECMO is extracorporal membrane oxygenation.
That 's something totally different, which is
taking the blood cut of a baby or an infant who's
in hypoxemic respiratory failure, taking the bklood
out, oxygenating it with a certain type of
technology and then putting it back into the baby.
0. Right. So that's the eguivalent of a
renal dialysis machine would be to the kidnevs,

correct?
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Al Yes.

0. It does sort of function --

A, I think of it more as cardiopulmonary
bypass.

Q. Okay. All right. The book chapters

that you edited or authored, which of those
do you believe are related directly to the facts
at issue in this case?

A Well, in neonatal emergencies, I had
discussed, vyou know, certain respiratory issues
that patients can get before they're -- before
they're transported, which -- you know, I mean,
transient tachypnea in the newborn as respiratory
diseasge. Obviously, there's Chapter No. 7 there,
hvaline membrane disease, and then No. 8, meconium
aspiration. You know, these are all relatively
common respiratory diseases of infants.

Q. And the one most on point in this case
would be No. 7, the article that you edit -- the
chapter that vou authored in Saunders, correct, on
hyaline membrane disease?

A, That's correct.

Q. Okay. Any abstracts, Doctor, that vou

feel directly are related?
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A. Not specifically.

Q. Ckay. So -- and, just for the record --
and I understand this -- the only -- the only

publication that you've authored that's directly
on point that relates to hyaline membrane digease
would be the chapter in Saunders, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Any publications or presentations
related to the use of surfactants?

A. Not specifically, no, although
surfactant is, obviously, mentioned in this
chapter.

0. Doctor, we —-- vou talked a little bit
about -- let me back -- gtrike that.

Just looking at vour CV as a whole, is
it fair to say that yvou have a special interest in

nCMO and neonatal resuscitation?

A. As well as a few other things, but ves.
0. And what would those few other things
be?
A. High freguency ventilation --
Ckay.
L. -—- ECMO, neonatal resuscitatlon and
pulmonary -- persistent pulmonary hypertension of
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B PBQESS -
the newborn.

0. Ckay. You menticned briefly the
difference between ventilators and CPAP when you
were talking about ad nauseam to you, I'm sure,
the difference between Level 2 and Level 3
nurseries, but specifically as to ventilators and
CPAP, is there a difference in the rate of
pneumothoraxes that occur or likely will occur
with ventilators as opposed to CPAP?

A. I don't know of any recent data, but air
leaks would be -- air leaks are more common with

mechanical ventilation than it i1s with CPAP.

Q. Than with CPAP?
A Yes.
0. I had that backwards. I always heard

that CPAPsg have hicgher air rate.

A I don't believe so.

Q. Now, vyou would be the guy that would
know, not me, so I'll take vour word for it.

What exactly happens in a pneumothorax?

A, It's a collection of extrapleural air
causing the Jung to collapse.

Q. Essentially what happens, I assume, 18

some of the alveoli rip, actually tear.
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A. That's what is felt to be responsible.

So air escapes from the alveolus out into the
extrapleural or sort of the extrapulmonary space,
the space between the lung and chest wall.

0. What are some of the causegs of
pneumothoraxes?

A, The most common cause is too much
pressure from -- it's iatrogenic. It's too much
pressure from ventilator pressure. I can be
caused, probably -~ it's been asgociated, although
I can't tell you definitely cause and effect, but
it's more common in kids who have an infection.

Sometimes you can have a baby who's
just -- there's a weaknesgs in the area. It's
probably a congenital defect, and it just happens.
Sometimes it's seen in babies who had meconium
aspiration as well, and it's probably more of a =--
sort of a ball valve where air goes into the
alveolus, and the alveolus gets bigger and bigger,
and because there's obstruction to gas flow, it
can't escape, and finally, it just rips, and you
get a pneumothorax.

Q. What happens in an infection; does it

actually weaken the wall?
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A, That's the theory behind it, ves.

0. And does that occur in bacterial as well
ag viral infections?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. Okay. Now, you -- you implied that

pneumothoraxes occur with ventilation, correcti?

A Correct.
0. I mean, it's a known -- let me ask it
this way, perhaps: It's a -- it's a known risk of

ventilation that you can have a pneumothorax; is
that correct?

A; That's correct.

Q. And, when vou put a child on a
ventilator, are you watching for the occurrence of
a pneumothorax?

AL You're, certainly, aware that that's a
possibillity, ves.

Q. You would -- would your nurses know to
watch for signs and symptoms of a pneumcthorax on
a child that was on a ventilator?

A Yes.

Q. Do pneumothoraxes just occur naturally?
I mean, I've heard of these occurring in adults --

A. Yes.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page 57




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

S Page 58 |
0. -- that aren't on ventilators? So can

they happen in neonates, just develop a

pneumothorax?
A Yes.
Q. And that would be partially, because of

a congenital abnormality that a child may have?

A. That would be the thought.

Q. But, certainly, vou don't believe that,
because a child has a pneumothorax, that a doctor
did anything wrong, do you?

A. Not necessarily, no.

Q. Just because a child has a pneumothorax,
vou don't believe that a doctor necessarily
vicolated a standard of care, correct?

A. Yeah. With taking care of a c¢hiid on a
ventiiator, that's correct. |

0. And that's, because it's a known risk of
a ventilator --

A, That's correct.

0. -~ a pneumothorax?

What's the treatment for a pneumothoras,
Doctor?
A. Removal of that ailr, that gas, which is

between the chest wall and the lung.
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Q. And you do that with a chest tube

egsentially; is that correct?

A. You can do a thoracentesis, or you can
do a thoracostomy, too. |

Q. Can you explain the difference between
the two.

AL What most people will do is they will
put a needle -- it's -- thoracentesis is putting
needle into the chest withdrawing that air and
then taking the needle out, with the hope that the
pneumothorax does not reaccumulate. That's what
most people will do as the -- as the first thing
to de, and then should the pneumothorax
reaccumulate, then put in the chest tube.

Q. Okay. Now, if a child is on a
ventilator where there's a likelihood, I assume,
because vou have, probably, torn something -- the
child has, probably, torn something, would the
first step in a child that develops a pneumothorax
would be to put in a chest tube?

A. For most people, yes.

Q. Okay. And, certainly, if you thought
the pneumothorax was caused by an infection, for

example, you'd treat the underlying infection as
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well, correct?
A. Absolutely.
Q. Okay. I assume that, if vou've got to

have a pneumothorax, the right place to have it

would be at Mass. General in a Level 3 nursery,

right?
A Sure.
0. And that's, because you have nurses

there that are watching for these to occur,

correct?
AL Correct.
Q. You have house officers that are aware

of the pogegibility, and they're watching for it?

A Correct.

o. I assume you have ways to test to see if
there was a pneumothorax.

AL Correct.,

0. You have children on monitors, so that
yvou know 1f the oxygen sats are dropping or PoZs
are going down, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. What happens to the child physically --
maybe, that's a bad gquestion. Appearance-wise

what happens to a child that experiences a

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO{3376) * www.court-reporting.com



Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D., et al,

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

pneumcthorax?

A. Well, it depends upon the severity of
the pneumothorax. If you have a severe ocne, it

can cause tension, meaning if it's on the right
side, it can push the mediastinal contents, which
ig the heart, esophagus and the trachea, over to
the left side, and you can have oxvgen
desaturation. You usually have a instability of
blood pressure, and the child can also, from a
blood gas point of view, not only become
hypoxemic, but also become hypercarbic and have a
high CoZ2.

Q. .Okayo Does that all that happen when
you have cardiac manifestation of the
pneumothorax?

A. It can happen with or without, depending
upon whether the pneumothorax is large enocugh to
cause tension or not.

0. Ckay. So, if vou have a pneumothorax
that's not displacing the heart towards the
mediastinum, then vou're not going to get those
effects, correct?

A, Usually not. It's a spectrum of

severity.
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Q. What's the difference between
pneumothorax and pneumomediastinum?

A. Pneumothorax is air in the pleural
space, and pneumomediastinum is air in the
surrounding the mediastinal structures, but
outside of the pleural covering, which covers the
lung.

Q. Do you treat a pneumomediastinum?

L. Rarely, but I've had to if it's severe
enough, veanh.

Q. Why don't -- why don't yvou treat it? Is
it, because it dcesn't cause any harm to the
childz

A. It would be asymptomatic.

Q. All right. When the child -- when

yvou're called over toc a crib, or better term,

bassinet -- 1s that a better term?
A, Isolate.
0. Thank vyou.

When vou're up in your NICU and you're
called over to an isolate, the nurses and doctors
think this child has a pneumcthorax, what does a
child look like physically? What's the child

doing? Not so much about what vou're seeing with
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1 translumination or what vou're seeing with the

2 Po2s, but what physically does the child look

3 like?

4 A. Potentially cyanosisg.

5 Q. Ckay. Is -- i1s that -- 1is that

6 life~threatening, the cyancsis?

7 A. Tt can be, yes.

8 Q. It's more a symptom of what's occurring?
9 A. Correct. It's a manifestation of the

10 pneumothorax and the pressure of the gas in the

11 extrapleural space having an effect on gas

12 exchange and also potentially blood pressure.

13 Q. | Does this matter if it's a central

14 cyanosis as appear -- as oppcesed to his fingers

15 are blue?

16 A We're talking central cyanosis, not

17 acrocyanosis.

18 Q. Now, I've heard the term bantered arocund
19 about duskiness. What is dusky or duskiness, and
20 how is that different from cyanosis, 1f you can

21 tell me that?

22 A. Duskiness 1s not a precise medical term.
23 Q. Iz it pink?
24 2. Yes, I think that would be fair.
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Q. I assume you've seen children that have '

been cyanctic from pneumothoraxes, correct?

A, Yes,

Q. And, when you treat those children, have
they responded well?

A Most have.

Q. Okay. And the treatment isg usually,
agailn, the thoracentesis or the chest tube,
depending if they are on vent or not?

A. Depending on the severity and the
circumstances, that's correct.

0. The children that have had bad outcomes
that vou've seen or have the central cyanosis,
what else have they demonstrated as far as your
observation of the child? Doesg that guestion make
any sense?

MR. BECKER: I was going to object,
because I didn't understand the guestion.

A, Not really.

Q. All right. Let me try again, and not
being a doctor, certainly, nct beling a
neonatologist, but when vou've had children that
have had severe central cyanosis, I assume their

Po2 levels are very low; 1is that correct?
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A. Correct. Yes.

Q. Their pulse ox. becomes very low?

A. Correct.

Q. Their blood pressure falls?

A. It can. It depends upon the sgituation

that you're talking about.

Q. Okay.

A. What's -- what's causing the central
cyanogis?

Q. Okay. Well, agaln, we're talking about
a child that's had a pneumothorax, correct?

A. All right. I wanted to make sure that
was clear.

Q. Let me reask it, so it's clear.

A child that has central cyvanosis with a

pneumothorax, vyou would expect their Po2 level to

be low, correct?

A. Correct.
Q. How low?
A. Tt depends on the severity of how -- of

how big the pneumothorax is and the severity of
the -- of the effects that that is causing -~
0. All right.

A, -- ag 1t relates to blood pressure.
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Q. Fair enough. :

So there's really no easgy measure; you
can't tell me, because they're cyanotic, their Po2
level should be X, for instance?

A. If they are cyanotic, I know their Po2
ig, certainly, below 85 and, probably, below 80
percent.

Q. Okay. Pulse ox.? Typically happens
with pulse ox. Lo get central cvancsis?

A, It would be -- it would be low, because

the pulse oximeter measures your oxyJgen

saturation.

Q. Okay. So are we are talking the same
thing --

A. Correct.

Q. -- the pulse ox. reading be would be the

same as a Po2?

A, Correct. One 1s invasive; one is not
invasive, but in egsence, we are talking about the
same thing.

Q. Okay. Would vou expect to see acidosis
in a child like that?

A, Potentially, ves.

Q. Okay. All right. Well, we'll come back

TR P T340 P T RS A R
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to that. Let's move on to something else.

The -- the normal effect of a
pneumothorax -- again, I am talking about child on
a ventilator. The normal effect of a pneumothorax

that's treated with chest tubes 1s a child geté
better, I presume; is that fair?

A. Correct.

Q. The child doesn’'t go on to have any
long-term problems?

A. If it's addressed quickly and
appropriately and if the degree of hypoxemia is
not prolonged, ves, I would expect that.

Q. And how long -- because I've heard that
before, too. Prolonged hypoxemia, [0 have any
kind of neurological damage, what are you -- what
are vyou talking about as far as -- can you give me
some measure of time and -- and oxygen levels?

A. It's hard, because you're extrapolating
a lot from adult data, but obviously; common sanse
would tell you the lower the oxygen level, the

shorter time it's going to take to cause cellular

damage.
Q. Okay. Are your necnatal resuscitation
activities -- is that primarily with problem
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deliveries?
A. Correct. High-risk deliveries.
Q. Okay. And, when you talk about your

activities in neonatal resuscitation, vou're
referring only to that delivery after or
resuscitation after delivery?

A. The program is sgpecifically geared
towards neonatal resuscitation in the delivery
roonm.

o, Are you ever called to one of the

emergenciles rooms or the OR rooms Lo resuscitate a

child?
A To the -- to an emergency room,
occasionally, when a woman who would be -- would

be rolling into the emergency room and about to
deliver, I could be called for that.

We have had deliveries of very sick moms
in operating rooms, and we've -~ we've been there
to provide support for infants.

Q. Okay .

A, These are moms who are usually in
operating room with --

C. Bursts of --

AL -- you know, cancer or something like
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that, and they have to take the baby, and so we :

will be there for that, but primarily it's in the
labor and delivery suite.

0. Okay. Now, the ER resuécitations that
yvou've done, have those ever involved near
&zownings e

A No.

i

Q. -- or carbon mconoxide poisonings or
anything of that nature?

AL No.

Q. Okay. And have vyou ever had to
resugcitate a child that wasn't on a vent, but

might have been in your unit for infection or

something of that nature?

AL Sure.
0. What kind of circumstances?
A Any baby who's in a neonatal intensive

care unit, whether they're there for a reason and
whether they're on a ventilator or not, arxe at
risk of having untoward cardiovascular events
requiring resuscitation.

Q. Okay. Have you ever been invelved in a
case where a child has an infection and being

transported to your hospital and has to be
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intubated en route and has to receive presser
agents en route? Have you ever had occasgion for

rhat to occur?

A. Not recently, but, vyes, in my training.

C. What were the circumstancesg, do you
recall?

A, Not -- not really. I mean, I -- this
was back in the '80s. The goal is tc avoid those

types of situations.

O. At all cost?

AL Yeah, pretty much. That's why, when you

have a baby that's in a community hospital and
they have some type of respiratory distress,
depending upon the severity of the distress and
the work of breathing, it's common for transport
teams to intubate those children -- those babies,
so you have sort of complete control of their
airway, and you also have lines in them, so that
yvou can give them fluid. You can give them
medicine for their blood pressure should you need
to do that.

You want to do as little as possible in
the back of an ambulance during a transport,

because it's not ideal. So you try to anticipate
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problems that you might run inte during the 1%98715
transpert and do things in the referring hospital
to avoid those things before you get into the
ambulance.

Q. Sure. An hour or two-hour drive to a
tertiary facillity is nct the best place to be
taking care of a baby?

A. Correct.

Q. If you had a baby that was under a vyear
0ld and was in a community hospital, suspected
infection, reguired ventilation, intubation, on
the way to a tertiary facility that was an hour
away, needed IV boluses, needed presser support,
what would vour concerns be for that child when
you finally received him at the tertiary facility?

A, When I see the baby coming through the
door and they put them on -- you know, on our
warming table, I'm initially concerned about their
vital signs, temperature, pulse, respiratory,
blood pressure, pulse ox. Those are my initial
concerns.

Q. Okay. A baby that needed presser
agente, would vou be concerned about brain damage

in a chiid?
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A, Potentially, ves. 3

Q. Would you be more concerned about that
child that I just described or one that
experiences a pneumctherax in a Level 3 nursery?

A. I would be concerned about both of them
as having some kind of untoward neuroéevelopmental
cutcome.

Q. Okay. Which would be more likely to
have a neurodevelopmental outcome?

A. It depends on the severity of the
illnegs of either one.

Q. Okay. And, again, just for the record,
you never reviewed any of Matthew Wagoner's
records past the time that he was treated in

Cleveland, Chio, correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. Have you ever treated -- and this is a
silly guestion, I realize, but I'm going to -- I

need to ask it. Have you ever treated babies with

congenital cardiac cconditions?

A Yeg, I have.
Q. Tell me what usually happens with those
children as far as Po2 levels and -- and central

cyvanosis and blood pressure.

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com



Jonathan H. CGronin, M.D, 6/18/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, efc., et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D1., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

i5

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

A. Well, 1t depends upon the type of

congenital heart disease that they have, number
one, and when they're born, we usually know about
these prenatally, because of the use of ultrasound
that the baby was born vaginal birth or cesarean
section, and depending upon what the baby has,
they may come down to the NICU, or if they are
quite well, they may go to observation Level 2
nursery, and any baby that's admitted we'll, vyou
know, monitor their wvital signs right away,
temperature, pulse, respiratory.

We know that, if it's a cyanotic lesion,
that we will fully expect to have oxygen
saturations usually in the 80s, and the
cardiologists are very happy with that, and then
we'll call a pediatric cardiologist and get an
echocardiogram to, if vou will, definitively make
the diagnosis of what they stopped prenatally, and
then we will go from there after we have all of
the information.

Q. Do these children frequently have --
maintain low oxygen saturations for an extended
period of time?

A, They can maintain -- depending upon
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their situation, they may have oxygen saturations

in the 80s.
Q. For a prolonged period of time?
A. Yes. Sometimes cardiologists are very

happy with that type of situation.

Q. Do those children fregquently or rarely
suffer any kind of neurological damage?

AL There have been some long-term
neurodevelopmental tests done. I think Jane
Newberger at Children's Hospital has done a lot of
that, looking at long-term nesurocdevelopmental
outcome of infants with congenital heart disease,
but a lot of that has to do with babies that have
been repaired and been on pumps, vou know, been on
a cardiobypass pump for theilr operation or not and

hypothermia and different issues --

Q. And possibly clotg?
AL Right. Correct.
Q. I guess, I'm asking from your

experience, when you've had children who had
congenital heart disease and extended periods of
low pulse oximetry readings, have you personally
seen cases where the child has significant

neurodevelopmental --
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A T don't follow them. I mean, I take

care of sort of the preoperative infants, and
hopefully, if they do go to the operating room,
postoperatively they usuallykwill go to the
pvediatric ICU.

. Okay. Children on ventilators are more
likely to develop pneumonia, I presume.

A, They are, certainly, at risk for that
than a child who is not on, ves.

0. And a lot of times, when you have a baby
and you're not sure what the mother's GPS
condition was or something like that, vyou start

antibiotics early just to cover potential

infections?

AL Yes.

Q. QOkay. What are the signg of a viral
infection?

A. In a baby?

Q. Yeah.

A Cne of the --

Q. Viral pneumonia.

A. One of the classics is usually they can

have a fever, and then with pneumonia, they can go

into respiratory distress, grunting, flaring,
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retracting, abnormal breath sounds, increased work

with breathing.

Q. Their x-rays -- what happens with their
X-rays?

A. Their x-rays --

Q. Chest x-rays.

A. Yeah. Their chest x~rays can have --

usually there's an interstitial pattern to the --
to the chest x~ray, which gives vou -- may give
you some idea that it could be a viral illness as
cpposed to others, but that's a soft call.

Q. So a lot of gimilarities between RDS and
pneumonia in these tiny babies as far as signs and
symptoms?

A. As far as the clinical signs of
respiratory distress, ves.

Q. Would you put any significance on if
you —-- 1f yvou cultured an ET tube and found a lot
of white cells and a lot of mononuclear cells or
secretions from ET?

A. I need more -- in how old a baby? How
long have they been intubated?

0. Okay. Let's gay a neonate, intubated

for five to seven days.
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A. Qkay.

Q. And vou found -- if you suspected a
viral infection and you found mononuclear cells in
the ET secretions, what gignificance would you put

on those?

A Were there lots of secretions?

0. I don't know to, tell vou the truth,
Doctoer.

A, RBecause it would be very unusual for --

to have a baby who's intubated for five to seven
days and then have a mononuclear infiltrate in the
tracheal aspirate, that's unusual.

Q. What's it a sign of?

A, I would -- 1t could be a pneumonia of
some type; a viral pneumonia.

Q. Okay. All right. Doctor, I wanted to
talk to yvou a little bit about your testimony
history. I'm curicus; how many cases do you

review on a monthly basis or an annual basis for a

lawyer?
A. Probably, six to eight cases a year.
Q. And how long have vou been reviewing

that number of casesg?

A. Since about 1992.
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Q. Has the number of cases vou've reviewed :

since 1992 changed dramatically from year to year,

or has it been basically six tfo eight cases a

vear?

A, On average.

0. For the past 14 vears?

A. It's about the same.

0. So yeou've reviewed over a hundred cases,
probably --

A. Probably.

Q. -- in your career? QOkay.

AL Yes.

Q. Do you know what percentage has been on

behalf of the Plaintiff as opposed to on behalf --
behalf of the Defendant?

A. The exact percentage I don't know, but I
assume 1t's around 50/50.

Q. We already talked -~ you spent three and
three-guarter hours reviewing all of the records

and all of the materials that you have in this

case?

A, Correct.

0. And about an hour generating vyour
report?
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A. Correct.

Q. And about how many depositions do you

sit for a vyear?

A. How about total?

Q. That's fine, too, Doctor.

A. Probably, around -- lesgs than a dozen.

Q. Have you appeared at trial?

A Yes, I have.

Q. And how many times have you appeared at
trial?

A. Three to four times.

0. Were those all in the Massachusetts

area, or were they —--

A No. One was in Georgila; one was in
Philadelphia, and one was in Middlesex County
right here next to Bosgston.

0. Of the -- I am sorry. Were you done?

Were any of those in federal court?

A No.
Q. Okay. Now, about half of vyour reviews
are on behalf of the defendant. Do vou maintain

any records, by the way, of who you've done work
for -- medical/legal work for?

A. Not really, no.
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Page 80 |
Well, can vou tell me the names of any '

fense counsels that you've consulted with

over the past year, the three to four defense

counsels

attorneys

of years

it to us?
A

Q.

reviewing

A.

Fo0 O

Q.
to trial

on that?

that you've, probably, consulted with?
Not as I sit here, no.

Would you have records of those in your

Right.
Would vou mind providing a list of the

yvou have worked with in the past couple

to -- to Mr. Becker, and he will provide
Ckay.

Thank vou.

When you -- what do you charge for
cases?

350 an hour.

And for depositions?

The same.

And what about trial?

The same.

Do vou charge for a full day when yvou go

or a half day, or do vou have any policy
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A. Yeah. It -- it's happened so

infregquently I usually just talk with the attorney
and just come to something which is reasonable and
what everybody does.

Q. Okay. Do vou have any idea what
percentage of your income derives from

medical/legal work?

A. Less than 10 percent.
Q. And about how much time do you spend a
vear in medical/legal work -- well, let me -- let

me rephrase that. Let's go back to these
percentages.

What percentage of your time do you
spend serving as a legal/medical consultant?

A. Prchably, about 5 percent.

Q. Have vou ever served as an expert on
behalf of the Becker Mishkind law firm in
Cleveland or Elyria, Ohio?

A, No.

Q. Ever serve ag an expert for Howard

Mishkind in Ohio?

Al No.
Q. David Kulwicki in Qhio?
AN No.
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1 Q. Larry Peskindg?

2 A, No.

3 Q. John Barnett?

4 A, I don't think so.

5 Q. And not Mr. Recker in the past --

6 A I am sorry?

7 Q. And not for Mr. Becker either?

8 A. No.

9 Q. Have you ever been a defendant in a
10 lawsult?
13 A, Yes.
12 0. How many times?
13 A. Once.
14 Q. Can you tell me just basically what the
15 circumstances of that lawsuit was.
16 A, I'm one of three neonatologists and a

17 pediatric ophthalmologist that is being sued here

18 in Suffeolk County in Boston for events treating a

19 premature -- 25 week premature infant who

20 developed retinopathy in prematurity.

21 Q. Surprised, huh, that the child developed
22 retinopathy?

23 A. It's an expected outcome of that

24 gestational (inaudible}.
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Q. Doctoer, this might be a real silly

guestion, but I assume that you agree with me
that, just because the doctor gets sued dossn’'t
mean that the doctor did anything wrong, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Just because the doctor gets sued

doesn't mean that the doctor was negligent,

correct?
A Correct.
Q. Just because the child has a bad outcome

doesn't mean that the doctor is negligent either,

doesg 1t?
A, Correct.
Q. In this case, just because the child has

cerebral palsy doesn't necessarily mean that the
physician wasg negligent either, correct?

A, Correct.

0. Let's talk a little bit about cerebral
palsy, and I just want to explore vyour
understanding of cerebral palsy, but I assume you
would agree with me that the vast majority of
cases of cerebral palsy were not caused by
physician negligence; is that fair?

A, Correct. Yes.
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0. There are many different causes of

cerebral palsy, correct?

A Yes.

O For example, genetic abnormalities --
A Yes.

0 -- is a cause?

There could be metabolic causes,

correct?
A. Yeg.
Q. And some metabolic masgueraders of

cerebral palsy, correct?

A. Define metabolic masguerader. I don't
know that term.

Q. For example, pyruvate déhydrogenation
deficiency can be a masquerader, a metabolic
masguerader. It's not true cerebral palsy, but it
looks a lot like cerebral policy, correct? Maybe,
vou want to call it cerebral palsy, and that's
fine.

A. You're talking about the ultimate
neurodevelopmental outcome of a patient with
pyruvate dehvdrogenation deficiency?

Q. Yes.

A You can have a patient that has some
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type of abnormal neurcdevelopmental outcome that
can be sort of led back to that metabolic reason

being the deficiency.

Q. Ckay. But vyou would call that --
A. Etiologic -~
Q. -- metabolic etiology? You would call

that a metabolically caused cerebral palsy,

correct?

A That's correct.

Q. Okay. So we have the same terminology
going.

Certainly, certain auvtolmmune defects
can cause cerebral palsy?

A Yes.

Q. Some coagulopathies can cause cerebral
palsy? For example, we talked earlier about a mom
that might be throwing some clots into the fetal
circulation, and that can cause the type of

ischemic injury that would cause a cerebral palsy,

correct?
A. Okay. Yes.
0. And, of course, the baby can have some

coagulopathies that, in essence, does the same

thing, correct?

Page 85 |
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A. Correct. i
Q. Can trauma cause cerebral palsy?
AL Yes.
0. And, certainly -- I think vou'll agree
with me on this -- the big cause of cerebral palsy

is just prematurity, isn't 1t?

A. One of them, ves. That's right.

Q. Okay. Maternal abruption can cause
cerebral palgy?

A Yes.

Q. What about uteroplacental insufficiency;
can that cause cerebral palsy?

A, Yes.

Q. Do vou have any idea what percentage of
all causes of cerebral palsy 1s caused by a
hypoxic ischemic event?

A. I don't know the exact number. I -- I
know it's small.

Q. What would vou guess, with my pension
for asking you percentages?

A. 5 percent. Five to 8 percent.

Q. And I've heard 6 percent cited by many
authors. You wouldn't disagree with 6 percent, I

agssume, correct?
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A

0.
caused by hypoxic ischemic events cccur in utero
or while the child is being delivered?

A.
number,

that would be in utero.

Q.

utero?

A
Q.
event end up with cerebral palsy?
A
Q.
A
eticiogy of the hypoxia?

0.

in general.

A,

but I believe that the preponderance of

o0 2 o

Page 87 ;
No. 3

And what percentage of those cases of CP

The -- the -- I den't know the exact

Okay. The vast majority would be in

Yeah.

Do most babies who suffer a hypoxic

It depends upon the etiology.
What do you mean by that, Doctor?

What's the -- you said what's the

Okay. Fair enough.

Can vyou tell me that if there's -- just

Not really.

Then we can get intc more detail.

I would need to get into more detail.
Okay.

T don't like to totally generalize.
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0. A1l right. We'll get to that. :

What is uteroplacental insufficlency? I
know I'm a little bit outside of your area of
expertise, but what do vou understand
uteroplacental ingufficiency to be?

A, Well, insufficiency of the uterus and
placenta to provide enough oxygen for the
developing fetus.

0. And does the injury to the baby usuvally
result in later stageg of the pregnancy in utero
placental deficiencies?

AL It depends when it's -- it depends on
when the uteroplacental insufficiency began.

Q. Okay. If it begins early encugh, I
assume the baby will probably self-abort, though,
correct?

A. That would be one extreme situation;

that's correct.

0. Or die in utero?

A. Correct.

Q. It would be stillborn?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. If a placenta is small for the

size of the baby, 1s that what is occurring in
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unteroplacental insufficiency?
A. I don't understand that.
Q. If the placenta is too small to support

the baby, is that what we mean by the

uteroplacental insufficiency?

A. Not necessarily, just -- not
necessarily.

Q. Is that part of it?

A. It can be, depending upon the situation

you're dealing with.

Q. And an abruption would be an example of
insufficiency, correct?

AL Severe.

Q. Severe. Okay.

But you can have partial abruptions,
too, correct?

A, That's correct.

0. What are some of the causes of vour
understanding of a spastic cerebral palsy?

A. Hypoxic -- I mean, usually it's the end
result -- again, in my realm, usually it can be
seen as the end result of some type of hypoxic
ischemic encephalopathy.

Q. And what about athetoid cerebral palsy?
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A

by hypoxic ischemia to the basil ganglia.

Q.

or textbooks that yvou could refer me fto for that
last contention, that -- that an athetoid cerebral

palsy is caused by a hypoxic ischemic event?

A

Newborn®

Q.

cerebral palsy, in your mind, that would,
probably, be caused by an anoxic ischemic event or

could be caused?

A.
Q.
A.
Q
A

Q.

doctors in North Carolina, including some doctors
at the University of North Caroclina, diagnosed
Matthew as being -- suffering from a mixed spastic
athetoid cerebral palsy. Would you have any
reason to disagree with that diagnosis?

A,

Volpe's textbook of "Neurology in the

would be an excellent resource.

Page 90
That's a cerebral palsy usually caused

Is there any -- are there any articles

So, if you have a mixed spastic athetoid

Could be caused, ves.

Could it be caused by other things?
Yes.

wWhat other things?

Clots, trauma, hemorrhage.

A lot of Matthew's subsequent treating

None whatsoever.
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Q. What about postnatal cerebral palsy:

what are the common causes of a postnatal cerebral

palsy?
A. Can you define postnatal cerebral palsy.
Yes.
A. I've never heard that term.
MR. BECKER: You mean in the newborn
period?

MR. BULLOCH: Yeah.
MR. BECKER: Neonatal period.
He is talking potentially hypoxic
ischemic insult, I think.
MR. BULLOCH: Well, thanks, Mike. I'm
not sure that's what I was referring to, but...
- BY MR. BULLOCH:

0. A child that isn’'t born with cerebral
palsy, so postpartum in the neonatal period that
goes on to develop cerebral palsy, what are some
of the causes of the cerebral palsy in a child?

A, If vou're talking about, gay, the happy,
healthy, full-term baby in the full-term nursery
who then goes home with mom and dad and then
develops cerebral palsy down the road, most of

the -- as I understand, most of the etiologies of
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Page 92 g
that are just unknown, but as we were gaying

earlier, there could be genetic causes; there
could be metabolic causes, but most of those are
unknown without scme type of antecedent event that
would make you think that that may be responsible
for what has been seen down the road.

0. Now, I think I asked you thig: You were
not aware of any case where yvou've treated a child
with a pneumocthorax that the doctors eventually
postulated that the child's pneumothorax was the
cause of the child's cexrebral palsy; is that
correct?

A. It's hard for me to answer that, because
I personally do not follow kids long term.

0. I understand.

A. But I have, certainly, taken care of
children who have had pneumothorax --
pneunmocthoraxes who at the time of discharge we,
certainly, had concern about their neuroclogic
development, because at the time of their
discharge, they had an abnormal neurclogic examn.

Q. Okay. And, in all of those children,
did vou feel that the abnormal neurological exam

was directly related to the pneumothoraxes?

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

i5

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Page 93 ?

A. You know, there had been cases like
that, vyes. These are -- these are very gick
infants.

0. Have these cases been reported in the

medical literature?
A. No. This was all primarily during the
1980s in the pre-surfactant era.
Q. Okay. Are you familiar with any reports
of pneumcthoraxes being linked to cerebral palsy?
A. I'm not aware of any paper making that
exact connection, no.
Q. Okay .
MR. BECKER: Could we just take a
one-minute break -~
MR. BULLOCH: Sure.
MR. BECKER: -- so I can make a call.
(Recess)
BY MR. BULLOCH:
Q. Doctor, before we took a little break,
I -- I just wanted to make sure I understood what
you were saying. You said that, while vou believe
there have been cases of cerebral palsy induced by
pneumcthoraxes --

MR. BECKER: He says ~- he said
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A : Page 94 ;
developmental delay. £

MR. BULLOCH: I am sorry?

MR. BECKER: He said developmental
delay, as I recall. Neurodevelopmental delay was
his testimony.

MR. BULLOCH: You're correct. QOkay.
Let me correct that.

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. You said you believe there have been
neurodevelopmental delays asscciated with
pneﬁmothoraxes.

MR. BECKER: He said it was the
pre-surfactant area.

MR. BULLOCH: Mike, come on.

MR. BECKER: We are going to be here all
night.

MR. BULLOCH: Well, we might be.

BY MR. BULLOCH:

A. In the pre~surfactant era, when
pneumothoraxes were much more common than they are
today in the post-surfactant area, it is not
uncommon to have infants, premature and infants,
who develop pneumothoraxes that end up with some

type of neurodevelopmental delay.
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0. Okay. Thank vyou. 1

Do you recall seeing any cases or

reading any articles where that was documented?

A, I experienced it firsthand.

Q. Okay. And did any of thoge children, as
far as veou know, develop cerebral palsy?

A. I believe they did, but I did not follow
them long term.

. And are you familiar with any articles

in the professional literature that makes that

association?
A. As I sgit here right now, no.
Q. Okay. Would vou have articles like that

in any kind of file in your possession?

A I would say no, since I pretty much use
the Internet now.

Q. Okay. Does -- does the occurrence of
serious or fregquent infections in a child have any
significance in trying to determine the etiology
of the child's cerebral palsy?

A. I'm sorry. I don't -- I don't
understand the guestion.

Q. All right. If -- if vou have a specific

child that has cerebral palsy --

B B e e e B e e P O B B R R i T B e e S TR
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A. When vou say, "child, " how 01d? I need

to be -- I need the specifics of the age. Since
I'm a neonatologist, I primarily deal with newborn
infants. When you say, "child," I don't know
whether yvou're meaning a baby or scmeone three or
four years old.

0. Well, true. You told me vou don't do
pediatric work.

A Correct.

Q. The age you stop with most children

would be a vear or less?

A, Much less than a vyear.
Q. Ckay. Ail right. Strike that.
Doctor, vyour report is dated -- did we

mark his report? Let's mark the report.
(Document marked as Exhibit 4
for identification)
BY MR. BULLOCH:
Q. Doctor, I'm handing vou what's been

marked asg Exhibit 4. Is that a copy of your

report?

A, (Witness reviews document) That's
correct,

Q. And this report was dated August 20th,
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2004, correct? :
A. Correct.
Q. Am I correct to assume that this report

contains all of vour opiniocns that you hold in

this case?

A, Correct.
Q. And I think we've already talked about
it. The -- the materials that you listed, did vyou

review it in formulating vour opinions that are
listed in your reporit, correct?

Al Correct.

. You've reviewed nothing else in
formulating these opinions, correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Would 1t be important to you to know any
of the child's subsequent course before you
rendered an opinion on what caused Matthew's
cerebral palsy? Do you understand the question?

A. Yes and no, but I -- I think I need to
ask him a question in order to answer it.

Q. Wwell, let me try to ask yvou another
gquestion.

A, All right.

Q. If certain things had happened in
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Matthew’'s life since vou left of the care of

Fairview Hospital where your records end, and
those events might be explanatory to the cause of
Matthew's CP, do you feel i1t would be necessary to
review those subseguent records?

A. Depending upon the guestion that I was
asked to answer. I was asked to review this case
specifically as it related to the administration
or the lack therxecf of excgencus surfacitant
therapy.

Q. And you had no depositions, besides Dr.
Iilien's, correct?

AL That ls correct.

0. And T believe vou told me that vyou
haven't had any discussion about depositions that
have been taken subseguent to Dr. Lilien's

deposition, correci?

A, That's correct.

Q. Did you read Dr. Evangelista's
deposition?

A. I don't believe so.

Q. Do you know who Dr. Evangelista --

A. Oh, deposition. No. Everything I have

is right here.
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Q. Dr. Evangelista is the doctor that :

regponded to Matthew's pneumocthorax at Fairview
Hespital, and she described very quickly --
responding very guickly, correcting pneumothoraxes
with chest tubes. Would that be important in your
determination of whether or not Dr. Lilien
breached the standard of care?

MR. BECKER: What Dr. Evangelista did
after the pneumocthorax?

MR. BULLOCH: Yes.

Q. I take it no.

AL Well, in -- I don't understand what the
cuestion is.

Q. All right. Well, let me back up.

I guess, vour opinion is just basically
that vou believe Dr. Lilien breached the standard
of care by not administering surfactant, correct?

A. I believe that the standard of care was
breached, because Matthew was not treated in -- iﬂ
a timely fashion with exogenous surfactant
therapy.

Q. Okay. But you told me earlier, I
believe, that the treatment for a pneumcthorax is

the insertion of a chest tube, correct?
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A, Correct.
0. So is your testimony just the fact that
Matthew developed pneumcthoraxes, because he did

not get surfactant in a timely manner?

A, Thig 1s ~-- let me make this clear.
Okay.

Q. Okay .

A. I think the paragraph that I wrote for

my opinion essentially states it very clearly,
that Matthew Wagner was a premature infant at 35
weeks. He was at risk of having respiratory
distress syndrome or surfactant deficiency. I do
believe, according to all the information that I
have and in reviewing the charts, that that was
the etiology of hig pulmonary disease.

Because of that, he went into
respiratory failure as evidenced by grunting,
flaring, contracting, increased work of breathing,
reguiring supplemental oxygen. His case
deteriorated to the point where he needed
ventricular intubation.

A1l of that was fine. After he was
endotracheal intubated for what, I believe, his

respiratory distress was secondary to surfactant
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Page 101 |
deficiency or respiratory distress syndrome, he

did not receive any excgenous surfactant therapy
at that time. Because he did not receive that
therapy, which I believe breached the standard of
care, he reguired increasing amocunts of FI02. He
required increasing peak inspiratory pressure on
the ventilators, which, unfortunately, resulted in
him having pneumothorax and episodes of hypoxemia,
as evidenced by some oxygen levels of 33, which
are in the laboratory data. So I'm a little

it -- so that's my answer.

It's a premature infant, white male,
lots ¢of risk factors, hyvaline membrane digease,
respiratory distress syndrome, who was
endotracheal intubated, because of increased work
of breathing and then never received surfactant

therapy until much later after he had developed

pneumothorax.
Q. Okay. And you're not offering any
testimony on what -- on any neurcdevelopmental

digorders Matthew sustained, correct?
A, I was not asked to do that.
O. You're not linking any of thege events

to Matthew's neurological outcome, correct?

C'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/18/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, eic., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

i5

i6

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Page 102
A That is correct.
0. Okay.
A. Although I will say it, because I can
say it from years -- my vears of experience and

also a lot of years in the pre-surfactant era,
that 1t was not uncommon for babies at that time
whe had surfactant deficiency or hyvaline membrane
disease to develop pneumothoraxes and then develop
some type cof neurodevelopmental delay down the
road. That was not uncommon.

0. But, again, you have no evidence of that
in the litézature, that pneumothoraxes caused the
neurocdevelopmental disorder, correct?

A, The pneumothorax causes -- causeg in
this case hypoxemia, low oxygen levels, and that
can be an etiology for cerebral palsy.

Q. But there's a lot of eticlogiles. We've

already discussed that, Doctor --

A That's correct.

0. -~ in all Ffairness, correct?

A, That 1s correct.

Q. We digcussed there's a multitude of

things that can cause cerebral palsy, correct?

A That's correct.
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Q. And only about 6 percent of all cerebral

palsies are caused by a hypoxic ischemic event,

correct?
A. Correct. We agreed upon that earlier.
Q. So can we agree, just because a child

develops a pneumothorax, doesn't mean that's the
cause of the CP?

AL Correct.

. You talked just now about some risk
factors that Matthew exhibited for developing
hyaline membrane disease, and I believe what you
saié.was the fact that he was a male, white male

and 35 to 36 weeks gestation, right?

A Correct.
Q. But aren't there a lot of causes for
maternal ~- for hyaline membrane disease that

Matthew did not exhibit? For example, maternal
diabetes, 1sn't that a risk factor for developing
hyaline membrane disecage?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Delivery by C section, isn't that a risk
factor for developing hyaline membrane disease?

A, No, it is not.

0. Itis not.
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A I've never heard that.
0. Docter, yvou list in your CV Saunders
Manual Pediatric Practice, Edition 2, a chapter on

hyaline membrane disease, correct?

A, Yes.

Q. You wrote that entire chapter of that
cext?

A. Yes.

Q. Under epidemioclogy -- and I will share
this with you in a moment -- it says, "Other risk

factors for development of hyaline membrane
digsease include delivery by cesarean section.® Do
vou see that?

A, (Witness reviews document) Yes.

MR. BECKER: VYou're showing him his

chapter.
MR. BULLOCH: Yes, I am showing him his
chapter.
A Uh-huh. Yeah. I do -- I do gee that,

and there are other risk factors in there much,
much less, but cesarean section in and of itself
is not a high risk factor.

Q. All right. But it's a risk factor?

Okay. You'd agree with me?
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Page 105"3
A. Fine.

Q. AllI right. 1Is perinatal depression also
a risk factor for development of hyaline membrane
disease?

A, It's a risgk factor for shock of lung,
which could inactivate surfactant, which T
wouldn't necessarily call hyvaline membrane
disease, which is more of a developmental issue.

0. Well, wait a minute. Isn't hyaline
membrane disease an absence of surfactank?

4. Yes, it 1s. Yes.

O, So, no matter what causes the absence of
surfactant, if it's absent, then you have hyaline
membrane disease, correct? |

A, Whether you're getting into absence of
surfactant versus inactivation of surfactant --

again, are we talking about a premature infant?

Q. I'm reading from your textbook, Doctor.
Al Right.
0. And it's there. So I assums you agree

with me that one of the risk factors for
developing hyaline membrane disease are perinatal

depression, correct?

A, Sure. It's shocked lung, in essence,

R D T e R e R e e e R R e e o
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veah.

Q. Okay. Another risk factor for
developing hyaline membrane disease that vyou
listed was second born of twins, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And another risk factor was a positive
family history, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, ot of all of the risk factors that
we have listed, Matthew did not have maternal --

mom did not have maternal diabetes, correct?

A That's correct.

O. Matthew was not delivered by C section,
correct?

A Correct.

0. Matthew did not have perinatal

depression, correct --

A Correct.

Q. -— that we know?

A Correct.

Q. He, certainly, wasn't the second-born of

twins, correct?
A. Correct.

0. There's no pesitive family history noted
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in Matthew's prenatal record, correct?
A Correct.
Q. So Matthew had a lot -- according to

yvour own textbock, very few risk factors out of
the total number of risk factors that exist out of

the hyvaline membrane disease?

that are on the list.

disease is primarily a disorder of premature
infants less than 35 weeks gestational age,

correct?

correct.

yvour repori, <correct?

A, Correct, according to the records.
Q. And then vou go on in this article --
vou saild, "In infants lesgss than 35 weeks

A. He had two of the most important ones

Q. What are the most important ones?
A Premature caucasian male.
0. Let's talk about that.

Doctor, you wrote that hyaline membrane

AL It's primarily, not exclusively,

0. I understand.
A. Uh-huh.

Q. Matthew was 35 to 36 weeks, according to
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y L Page 108
gestational age, the incidence is 10 to 15
percent, " correct?
A. Correct.
0. "In infants less than 28 weeks, the
incidence is 70 percent," correct?
A. If that's what it says. I don't have it

in front of me, but I believe vyvou. Okay.

Q. Yeah.

A I don't recall that chapter verbatim, as
I sit here.

0. Doctor, I understand. Please, vyou're
free to loock at this any time.

A. Okay.

O, I don't have a copy, so I apologize.

A. All right.

Q. You said that the incidence in full-term
infants is about 1 percent, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, would you agree with me that
Matthew is near term at 36 weeks?

A. Yes, I would.

0. So I assume that his incidence of
developing hvaline membrane disease ig close to 1

percent, correct?
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MR. RECKER: Is what?
Q. Close to 1 percent.
A The latest data out there indicates one

to 2 percent in term babies and in near-term
babieg, perhaps, two to 4 percent of hyaline
membrane disease.

Q. Okay. So the incidence has gone up

since vou wrote this in 2002; is that what vou're

saying?
A, Again, I don't have that in front of me,
but that's the way -- I'm just -- I'm just telling

vou what the latest data is.

Q. Doctor, please. I am not trying to be
argumentative.

A Ckay.

0. I'm trying to understand this. I'm not
a doctor. I'm just trying to understand this.

What was it in 19997 What was the
believed incidence in 19997
A. The -- the important part -- there two
generalized important parts. Number one, as the
gestational age increases, vour incidence of
hyaline membrane disease increases. That's number

one.
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Ckay.

A Number two, what we teach is that the
incidence of hyaline membrane disease in terms
infants is not zero,-and that's Som@thing a lot of
people don't appreciate. So we talk about a one
to 2 percent incidence, and in babies that are a
littie bit less mature than near-term infants, 35
to 36 and six-sevenths, we talk about an incidence

about two to 4 percent.

Okay.
A Again, lower than term babies.
Obviously -- excuse me -- higher than term babiesg,

but lower than smaller bkabies.
Q. Do you know what the thought was about
the risk of developing hyvaline membrane digease

based on gestational age in 1999 as we git here

today?

A. Essentially the same.

0. Okay. The same as what you wrote in
20027

A, Essentially the same as what I -- what I

just stated.
Q. Well, I'm confused, because you were

talking about what you wrote in 19 -- or 2002 --
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A. Uh-huh.
Q. -~ and what's currently being written,

which is different than what you wrote?

A, It's not significantly --

Q. Okay.

A It's not significantly different.

Q. All right. But vyou agree with me it's
different?

A. Fine.

Q. And would you agree with me, in 1999,

what we, probably, suspected on incident was
closer to what you wrote in 2002 than what's
currently being written today?

A. No. I just don't think that there's a
gsignificant change. Hyaline membrane disease in
near-term infants was not as -- there's a better
appreciation of that now, because there happen to
be more near-term babies being born.

G. A1l ricght. 2nd then you gaid there were
two risk factors that Matthew had. His other was
male sex?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. So just so I understand, the only

risk factors that you can point to that Matthew
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had in developing hyaline membrane disease was his

gestational age and the fact that he was a male,

correct?
MR. BECKER: White maie.
Q. Well —-
A. White male, which increases his risk as
opposed to -- vou can show that to me. I'm just

going on my working knowledgé -

Q. Ckay.

A. -- of what I use every day.

0. Doctor, please, I am not trying to be
argumentative.

Al Okay.

0. But it deesn't séy white male anywhere

here, does 1t?
A I believe it says, "male sex," right
here {indicating).
Q. Male sex, not white male.
A Okay.
MR. BECKER: He said that in his report,
John.
THE WITNESS: Caucasian -- I said,
"caucasian male."

MR. BULLOCH: I'm asking him for where
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it is 1in his literature.

MR. BECKER: All right. All right.

BY MR. BULLOCH:

0. A1l right. The vast majority of 35 to
36-week-0ld baby boys don't develop
hyaline membrane disease, do they?

Al Correct.

Q. So, when vou have a 35 to 36-week-cld
baby boy developing hvaline membrane disease, it's

somewhat of a surprise?

A Not to me, no.
0. Weill -=
A. To most neonateclogists, no. It's a

potential expected outcome.
0. But, certainly, fairly rare?
A, I wouldn't call it rare. I would call

it more uncommon --

Q. Okay .

A, -- but it's, certainly, not rare.

Q. 1 percent?

A, Well, we're talking the two to 4
percent.

Q. Okay. Now, we talked briefly about the

symptoms of hyaline membrane disease as being
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tachypnea, correct?
A, Tachypnea.
Tachypnea.

Ch-huhn.

Nasal flaring?

Q

A

Q

AL Uh-huh.
0 Chest wall retractions?

A Uh~-huh.

Q Grunting and cyancsis, right?
A

Yes.

C. There are other conditions that vou'wve

written about that have the identical

presentation, correct?

A Correct.
Q. What are some of those?
A Retained amniotic fluid, pneumonia,

meconium aspiration.

Q. There's also something called
transient --
A. Transient tachypnea in a newborn.

That's the same asg retalined amniotic fluid.
Q. Also, known as Type 2 respiratory

distress syndrome?

AL That's a term that hasn't been used 1in
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many vears, but ves.

Q. Okay. All of these other conditions,
meconium aspiration, pneumcnia, are they treated
with surfactant?

A. At the present time, meconium aspiration
is usually treated with surfactant. If yvou think

a child has meconium, that's a little

controversial. Some people deo, and some people
don't.

Q. It's, certainly, not standard of care to
treat?

A. To treat meconium, I would say it's not,
ves.

Q. All right. But there were four or five

different conditionsg that we talked about that

mimic respiratory distress syndrome --

A. With their --
-— 1n 19997
A. I could just say that mimic their

clinical presentation, ves.

Q. Okay. Now, in 1999, were any of those
treated with surfactant, except for -- besides,
rather, respirateory distress syndrome?

A, Yeg. Meconium asgspiration syvndrome was.

R TR
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Q. In 19997
A Yes.
Q. Ckay. If vou have this transient

tachypnea of a newborn, how long does it take for
this condition to resolve?
A. It's very variable. It could be a

couple of hours to 24, hours which would be the

outside --
0. Okay.
A. -= but usually it's within, vou know,

two to three to four hours.

Q. Okay. Can it take several days to
resolve?
Al I would say ne. I would be very

reluctant to call a clinical course that far out

with transient tachypnea of the newborn.

Q. Okay. The reason why I ask that
question, Doctor -- I don't mean to be
argumentative -- you read there what you wrote
about =--

A Uh-hunh.

Q. -- that particular disease under
treatment.
A (Witness reviews document) Hours to
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several days, yeah.

Q. Okay .

A. That's what -- that has been stated in
several of these papers. It's not something that

I ¢linically feel is necessary.

0. Okay. But that's what you wrote?

A Yeah.

G It can take several davs to resolve?

AL Yeah.

0. And vou talk about the treatment here,
and -- and vou don't use surfactants for
transient --

A TTN.

Q. Thank vyou.

A, That is correct:; we do noit use

surfactant for treatment of TTN.

Q. Okay. So, 1f a doctor is not sure he's
got TTN as opposed to RDS, is the doctor entitled
to withhold surfactants for several days until he

decides what it is?

A It's the job of the doctor to make a
diagnosis.
0. But vou just told me that the --

A, We hadn't talked --
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Q. -- clinical findingé.aﬁémfhé
radiographic findings are the same?

A. No. I -- I didn't say anything about
radicgraphic findings.

Q. A1l right. How are the radiographic

findings different?

A Between?

Q. Between TTN and respiratory distress
syndrome .

A. Okay. In respiratory distress syndrome,

vou usually have a bilateral ground glass
appearance, and it's distinctly different from
transient tachypnea, which shows more of an
interstitial pattern, which has dilated
lyvmphatics, particularly in the lower lobes.

Q. So the entire diagnose -- diagnosis of
TTN and differential diagnosis for TTN as opposed
to RDS is made on radiographic findings?

A. Many times, that's correct.

Q. You said that these radiographic

findings are usually found, but not always found?

A, That's correct, as most things in
medicine.
'Q. Okay. Can you have TTN and have ground
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glass appearance in the lung?

A I'm sure you can.
Q. Okay.
A. You have to determine what ~- which is

the predominant pathologic process going on.

Q. Okay. And what about pneumonia; 1s --
is there any difference in the presentation of
pneumonia than RDS?

A. Well, are you talking about clinical
presentation or radiographic?

Q. Let's talk first about clinical.

AL Clinical presentation, they can be
completely the same, grunting, flaring,
retracting, tachypnea.

Q. Okay .

A But radicgraphically you can usually --
sometimes yvou cannot tell the difference at all
between bacterial pneumonia and respiratory
distress syndrome, and sometimes yvou can, but
radiographically they can be -- they can look
exactly the same.

Q. So it can be real difficult to tell the
difference between pneumonia and respiratory

distress syndrome?

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO({3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page 119




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc,, et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D,, et al.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

i9

20

21

22

23

24

A. ”I£méaﬁ.ge; yes, as you're sitting there
with a brand new baby that's several hours old,
ves, and that's the reason why we treat with
antibiotics.

0. If vou had a 2,300 gram baby, what's

more common, hyaline membrane disease or

pneunonia?
A. Statistically, probably, pneumonia.
Q. Okay. And vou don't give surfactant for

pneumonia, correct?

A. For phneumonia?
0. Yes.
A, I do, but it's not -- again, some people

do, and some people don't.

O. It's, certainly, not the standard of
care?

A. It does -- it's not at a standard of
care level; that is correct.

Q. It's, probably, a little more cutting

edge would you say?

A. I don't know if I would say that.
Q. Can you point me towards any articles
where surfactant use in -- this is, certainly, an

off-label use of surfactant, right?
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can't cite you chapter and verse as I git here --

the fact that treating babies with pneumonia with

exogenous surfactant can be beneficial.

'90s,

forces of the alveolus wall to prevent it from

collapsing down. It decreases surface tension.

surface-acting agent?

with

process as opposed to a drug activity that

requires absorption and distribution or partial

Page 121
A Yes.
Can you --
A There have been cne or two articles —-- 1

Q. Okay .

A. -- that have suggested -- have suggested

Q. Are those pretty recent articles?

AL Not very recent, no. I would say late
Doctor, how does surfactant work?

A. Surfactant works by decreasing the

Q. So surfactant is basically a

A. Right.

Q. Much like soap would be on a -- on water
grease on top, correct?

A, Correct.

0. So this i1s really more of a mechanical
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ﬁétabolism,of aﬁyghiﬁg of that ﬁé£ﬁ%e, correct?
A. Well, not completely. There are some
surfactants that actually need to get into the
cell and then get packaged, and then they are
excreted out of the cell in order to form its

effect. So that's not completely true.

Q. Okay. Is that the exosurf type of
surfactant?

A. Very good. That's correct.

Q. It's not true of the naturally-occurring

surfactants, correct?
A. That's correct. Much more so.
0. Okay. So the naturally-occcurring

surfactants act fairly rapidly, I presume,

correct?
A, That's correct.
Q. Can you tell me, then, why Matthew

developed a second pneumothorax?

A. I suspect that he developed a -- well, T
suspect he developed a second pneumothorax,
because of the pressures being delivered with the
ventilator to support his lung disease.

The use of surfactant after an

established pneumothorax is relatively
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controversial. Some people do it, and some pecople
don't.

Some feel it's not worth doing, because
any surfactant you put in might leak out in the
pleural space, and then vou would suck it out by
yvour chest tube. There are other people who
believe there may be some benefit to it.

Q. Ckay.

A, But I believe he got a -- his second
pneumothorax again, because of, vou know, the high
pressures that he was requiring on the ventilator.

Q. Well, typically, when vyou give
surfactant, the pressureg can come down, correct?

Al If you give it in a timely fashion;
that's correct.

Q. Now, when do you believe this second
pneumothorax started?

A. Just going by the chart, it happened at
8/25 and eleven p.m. at about 23 -- at about 34
hours of age, according to my notes.

Q. Well, the first pneumothorax, according
te your notes, occurred at what time?

A. 8/25 at 7:05 p.m., approximately 30

hours of life.

Page 123
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7:05 p.m.?

Q.

A. Correct.

Q. And the surfactant was given when?

A, That 's unclear to me, because the
surfactant was ordered -- this is where the notes

sort of get very fuzzy, because I'm relying on the
notes that the doctors wrote are not completely
very intelligible, and there was nothing helpful
in the discharge summary.

Q. Okay.

AL There was Survanta ordered on 8/26 on
8:15. That was the first time I ever saw it
ordered, but there was -- I had a guestion here -~
and you can see that on my notes -- that, after
the first pneumothorax, gquestion whether they
actually gave surfactant at that time after the
first pneumothorax.

O. All right. Do you have any reason to
believe they did not give the surfactant?

A. You know, I don't -- I just don't know,
to tell you the honest truth.

Q. Okav.

A, I just extract what I can out of this,

and I did not read any depositions, which
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sometimes £1ll 1n the holes. :

Q. All right. And -- and when
do you believe the second pneumothorax occurred?

A. Well, according to the notes here, it
was 8/25 at eleven p.m., so approximately four
hours after the first pneumothorax.

Q. Do you believe that second pneumothorax
was developing prior to this time, or did it just

occur at eleven p.m.?

A. I would say the latter.
Q. It just occurred --
A. Pneunmothoraxes just happen. They don't

necessarily evolve per se.

Q. So, assuming that the surfactant was
given at 8:15 p.m. and the second pneumothorax
occurred almost three hours later, that should
have been more than enough time for the surfactant

to exhibit its effects, correct?

A. Right, and that's possibly why he got a
prieumothorax.
Q. I -- T don't -- I don't understand. Can

you explain what you mean by that.

A, Because the -- the child was being

treated with a lot of pressure, has had a

T e R N e e e e T R R R
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pneumothorax. Then what can happen -- and, again,
this is why the administration of surfactant with
a -- with a pneumothorax present is controversial,
because when you have a pneumothorax, that can
sometimes, yvou know, overexpand some parts of the
lung and collapse other parts of the lung, and
sometimes, when you add a dose of surfactant with
a —-- with a -- with an ongoing pneumothorax, you
may cause another one, because you may -- the
pressure that's being delivered to the areas that
are already expanded, then you're improving their
compliance even more, and then you may causé a
pneumothorax like giving surfactant.

0. All right. But you don't believe that
Dr. Lilien decision to actually give the
surfactant at 8:15 itself breached the standard of
care; what you believe Dr. Lilien breached the
standard of care was falling not to give it before

seven o'clock?

A. Much earlier on, actually, right after
intubation.
Q. Okay. You have no criticism of Dr.

Lilien giving the drug at 8:15, correct, assuming

he gave it?
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A. Weil, the -- I mean, again, the
criticism comes back that, if you -- that what the
natural progression would be, the child is in
respiratory distress; yvou intubate them; you
document the placement of the endotracheal tube
radiographically, and then you go ahead and give a
dose of surfactant within, vyou know, a half hour
of -- of intubation, and that's -- that's the
common standard of care treatment of this therapy,
and with that you would never -- you would have
avoided all of these higher presgssures that they
got into later on, which I think was the reason
why the child developed the pneumothorax.

Q. Okay. And I think I understand what
vou're saying, but your real criticism is Dr.
Lilien should have given this surfactant sometime

before geven o'clock?

A. Yeah, shortly after intubation.

Q. Okay. Certainly, the second dose or the
dose of -- of surfactant that they gave Matthew
was -~ was not effective in preventing the

pneumotherax, correct? We know that.
A, Correct.

Q. We know that Matthew's respiratory
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problems gradually resolved, correct?
A Correct.
Q. Are vyou, therefore, limiting the time of

Matthew’'s damage toc the specific time period? Do

vou know what I mean?

A No.
0. Well, is there a certain periocd of time
after which -- well, I think you've answered it.

Your only criticism is Dr. Lilien is he didn't
give the drug shortly after intubation, correct?
A. Correct.
0. OCkay. We can skip that.

Doctor, one of the other things that I
read that you wrote in Saunders was that the
widespread use of prenatal maternal steroids has
markedly decreased the incidence of hyaline
membrane disease, correct?

A Correct.
Q. There are two ways that you can prevent
or significantly reduce your risk of hyaline

membrane disease, which is keep the baby in utero,

correct ~-~
A, Correct.
Q. -- or give the mom maternal steroids,
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correct?
AL Correct.
Q. Do you have any criticisms of the

obstetrician for failing to extend this pregnancy?
A. I'm sorry. Repeat that guestion.
Q. Do vou have any criticism of the

obstetrician for failing to extend this pregnancy

to use tocolytics and -- and keep Matthew in
utero?
A. I1'1ll answer the question just with the

understanding I am not an expert in obstetrics --

Q. Okay.

A. -- but I can say that it is almost
unheard of for obstetricilans to stop labor with
tocolytics at 35 weeks.

0. Okay. Now, when you give steroids to
mom, there's not a lot of risk to the mom oxr the

fetus, correct?

A. There's little risk.

0. Little risk. Sodium retention in the
mom?

A, Potentially.

0. I mean, we're not talking about any kind

life-threatening risks here by giving a couple of
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doses of prednigone, are you?
A Or dexamethasone or betamethasone.

Usually not.

0. Pretty significant benefit, correct, in
a ~-- in a premature infant?

A Potentially, correct.

Q. Do you have any criticisms of the

obstetrician's failure to not prescribe steroids?

AL Again, I will answer this just under the
proviso that I'm not an obstetric expert, but it's
almoét unheard of to give mothers prenatal
glucocorticoid therapy at 35 weeks.

Q. Why?

A. Because thelr incidence of the disease,
hyvaline membrane diseasge, ig so small.

Q. Okay. So yvou don't run the small risk
of giving the mom sodium retention, because the

benefit is so small, correct?

A, Correct, because the --
Q. Okay.
A, -~ incilidence of the digease at that

gestational age is so low.
0. Doctor, that's kind of what vou do when

vou prescribe the medication, isn’t it? I mean,
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when you are prescribing medication, you kind of !

weigh the benefits versus the risks, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And that's part of exercising your
professional judgment as a physician, right? You
decide whether a patient needs a certain
medication, correct?

A, Correct.

Q. If yvou have a drug that has a potential
for causing a severe adverse reaction, but it has
no known benefits in a certain population, what

would you do? Would you give the drug to that

population?

A, Probably not.

0. What are the risks of exogenous
surfactants?

A. In general?

Q. Yeah.

A. If it's administered incorrectly, vyou

get some sort of apnea, bradycardia, hypoxemia.
It's -- it's very low. If it's administered
correctly and properly, it's a very safe drug,
actually.

O. Okay. Is there some reason -- I have
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read this, and I don't really understand it.

Perhaps, vou can explain it to me, but is there
some reason that large babies, when you give
surfactant, i1t tends to plug -- they have a higher
incidence of plugging the ET tube?

A. I've never heard of that, because bigger
babies have bigger endotracheal tubes.

Q. Okay. So, if I provided literature to
vou that said that's a potential risk of
surfactant, you wouldn't necegsarily agree with
it, at least not in your experience?

A. In my 15 years of experience, I1've never
had a large -- I've never had an endotracheal tube
in a large baby be plugged by surfactant.

Q. All right. And, when you give

surfactant, some of the risks vou said are

bradycardia?
A, Yes.
Q. What causesg the bradycardia?
A, Usually stimulation of the vagus nerve,

which is one of the nerves that kind of innervates
the airways, and you also have manipulation a

little bit of the endotracheal tube.

Q. Okay. So the bradycardia that's caused

TR T AT TIRRT e ST
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is actually a mechanical effect of the

administration of the drug, correct?

A Correct.

Q. And can vou get oxygen desaturations
when vyou administer surfactants?

A. Yes, you can.

Q. Isn't that why one of the precautions
and warnings is that you don't give this in
community hospitals; vou give it in facilities
that are eguipped to handle these type of
emergencies?

A. Well, as the policy states, vyou,
certainly, need to be facile with the ability to
administer surfactant, absolutely.

Q. And the policy vou refer to is the AAP
policy, correct?

A. That's correct, and most institutions
that -- that administer surfactant usually have
some type of policy.

Q. Okay. Who usually gives the -- who
actually administers the drug in your institution?
Do you give it?

A, No. I used to years ago, but for many

vears 1t's now a combination of respiratory
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therapy and nursing.

Q. Okay. So the policy that AAP came up
with, is that primarily to give guidelinesg to
people that were not neconatologists in
adminigtering the drug?

A. You would have to ask them.

Q. Qkay. Fair enough.

We talked about this briefly. There
were -- there were naturally occurring surfactants

in '%9, and there was one synthetic surfactant,

correct?
A, Exosurf, correct.
0. E-x-o-s-u-r-~£f.
And I think you've already touched upon
this. There are specific benefits with using the

naturally-occurring surfactants, correct?

A, Correct.

0. Tt works better than naturally
occurring -- better than the synthetic?

A, In general, felt to work much more

quickly, and the improved lung compliance that
pecple saw, everyone seemed to -- 1t was better --
more guickly and better than Exosurf.

Q. Okay. Part of the reason for that is
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Exosurf doesn't contain the surface-acting

proteing, correct?

A Correct.
o. Were there -- and I believe vyou touched
upon this, too. There were more risks with

Exosurf than there was with the naturally

occurring?
AL Not -- risks for Exosurf?
0. Yes.
A, Not that I recall.
Q. Okay. Did your hospital put Exosurf on

the formula, or did you have naturally occurring,
do you recall?

AL I've been in Massachusetts General
Hogpital since 1994, and we've never -- 1 believe
we've never had Exosurfi on the formula.

0. But --

A, But I do have -- but I do have
experience with it in a previous position earlier
on.

Q. And I assume that's, because you -~
well, I don't want you to sgspeculate why that was.

Can vou refer me to a single study -- a

single controlled study prior to 1999 where
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exogenous surfactant was used in newborn babies '

that were as large as Matthew was at 2,305 grams?

i No, because I don't believe those
studies were done.

Q. And, in fact, even today there's no
controlled studies on larger babies with the use
of surfactant, is there?

A. I think that's correct.

0. All controlled studies that have been
done on surfactants has been on younger and
smaller babies; 1s that correct?

A. On smaller bables with decreased
gestational age, and the main reason for that is,
because that's where the incidence of the disease
is greater.

Q. Okay. And you cannot cite me to a
single article, 1 assume, where surfactants have
been shown to have a positive impact on
neurodevelopment?

MR. BECKER: On what?
MR. BULLOCH: Neurodevelopment.

A. Not chapter and verse. What you would
have to do in that sense, again, 1g -- is look at

coutcomes of infants in the pre-surfactant era
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versus post-surfactant era.

0. Or look at hospitals that don't get
surfactant. Is that possible?

A, I would hope there aren’'t many of those

per se. You know, again, if the hogpital gives --
at least the transport team is giving it.

Q. Are you aware of what Columbia
Hogpital's -- Columbia University's hospitals are
studying currently in CPAP and not giving
surfactant?

A. They ~-~ I'm aware of their CPAP
experience for vears.

0. Okay. And, when they use CPAP, they dJdo
not give surfactant; is that correct?

A. I suspect not since —-- if -- I -- I
don't know. You know, 1t depends whether -- some
places -- I know of one study over in England --
not England -- Scandinavia where they intubated a
child. They gave surfactant. Then they extubated
the child right away and put them on CPAP and
studied those infants.

So, when vou're talking about Columbia,
I fdust don't know anything about what vyou're

talking about.
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Q. Would vou ever intubate a child just to
give the child surfactant?

A. I don't practice that way, but I know
people that do.

Q. Ckay. But would you?

A, Not at -- not at the present time at
Mass. General.

0. All right. And, again, let me represent
to you that there are ongoing studies at Columbia,
and the -- there is a -- essentially the way they
treat children with RDS is to put them on CPAP and
not administer surfactant. Okay. .Let me
represent that to vyou.

Are all of those doctors breaching the
standard of care by falling to give surfactant to
their child?

A. I really can't comment on that, because

I don't know anything about what you're talking

about, and I don't know any of the -- of the
specifics.

Q. All right. Are you familiar with the
Vermont Oxford network?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. Is that a respected entity?
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A, Yes, 1t 1is.

Q. Do you know anything about the Vermont
Oxford database on RDS children?

A. Not specifically, since we just joined
Vermont Oxford about four months ago.

Q. Okay. Let me represent to you that the
database includes 3,505 infants between 1,400 and
1,500 grams. Not all of those children were given
surfactant. Okay.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. I'm representing that. Do you believe
that the physicians that participated in that
study made a -- you know, breached the standard of
care when they decided to withhold surfactant?

A. Again, vyou're asking me things that I --
I cannot make a comment based on just what you
say. I think that's very unfair.

Q. All right. Fair enough.

Do you ever consult the manufacturers'
dosing charts that come with surfactants on how to

give the drug?

A. I've read them.
Q. Okay. I assume vyou'‘ve consulted the PDR
on -- on the use of surfactants at some point in

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page 139 f




Jonathan H, Cronin, M.D. 6/18/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

time?

A, Not the PDR, but I mean, T have,
certainly, read product information.

Q. All right. The product information,
essentially the drug product monocgraph that
appears in the PDR, correct?

AL Okay.

Q. If vou open the package oi Survanta,
S-u-~-r-v-a-n-t-a, what you're going to find in
there is basically the same thing that appears in
the PDR, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Is there anything in there about giviﬁg

surfactant to a baby larger than 2,000 grams?

A I don't recall, since I haven't read it
recently.
Q. If I represent to you that there is not.

Is then giviﬁg this drug to babies the size of
Matthew an off-label use?

A. I guess, by -- by the letter of the law,
yves.

Q. Okay. Does that reguire some form of
informed consent from your patients?

A. In neonatology, we've given a lot of
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medicines that way.

0. Off ilabel?

A Off label, ves.

Q. And, I guess, what you're saying from
that is vou don't bother getting the parents’

informed consent, correct?

A, In giving surfactant?

Q. Yes.

A. That is correct.

0. So, if vou gave surfactant to a child

that weighed 2,300 grams, you wouldn't get the

parents’' consent to do that, correct?

A, No, we would not.
Q. Doctor, I guesgs, I'm just a little
confused. How -- how do vou believe that Dr.

Lilien breached the standard of care when he
failed to give Matthew surfactant when there were
no studies in 1999 giving surfactant to children

Matthew's size? It was an off-label use, and

there are entities that have not given surfactant.

How -- how did he breach the standard of care?
A, T think he breached the standard of
care, because the diagnosis of this infant, in my

opinion, was surfactant deficiency, and it's been
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the standard of care everywhere I know, when you
make the diagnesis of gurfactant deficiency or
hyvaline membrane disease or respiratory distress
syndrome in an infant clinically and
radiographically who requires endotracheal
intubation, then to treat that child with
exogenous surfactant.

Q. Okay. Maybe, we've got a problem with
semantics here. In your mind, what is the
standard of care?

A. The standard of care is that, when you
make the diagnosis of surfactant deficiency,
hyaline membrane disease or respiratory distress
syndrome, you treat that disease with exogenous
surfactant.

Q. I'm sorry. The guestion wasg vague. In
general, what was the standard of care?

MR. BECKER: He wants know what the term
means Lo vou.

Q. What does the term, standard of care,
mean Lo you?

A. I know every state has a different
standard of care.

Q. I don't care whnat the state savs,
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Doctor. I want to know what Dr. Cronin thinks.
When you use the term, breachec¢ the standard of
care, what does that mean to you?

A. I think that a physician -- vyou know, I
mean, we can get into the semantics, due diligence
of, vou know, providing care.

Q. Okay.

A, This was -- the treatment -- the use of
exogenous surfactant to treat surfactant
deficiency, I believe ~- the nonuse of that, I
believe, breached the standard of care --

Q. Okay .

A, -~ 1in the treatment of this infant, a
white male, premature infant, who had no risk
factors for infection and chest x-ray consistent
with that diagnosis.

0. I hate to get off the subject, but was
there no risk of infection known tc Dr. Lilien in

this patient?

A The only risk factor, to me, is
prematurity.

Q. So there was a risk factor?

A. There was a risk factor, ves. Sure.

Q. And are you aware of the fact that Margo
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Wagoner underwent an artificial ruptured membrane?
A, I am aware of that, vyes.
Q. Doesn't that carry a higher risk of

fetal infection as well?

A. It does, but it would be very small.
Q. Let's get back to this issue of standard
cf care.
How -- how is a standard of care

created? Again, I'm just talking about
congenital. I'm not talking about Matthew
Wagoner. I'm talking about, in vour mind, how is
the standard of care developed?

A, Well, this is -- vou know, a standard of
care that's put out in 1999 by the American
Academy of Pediatrics, you know, to treat
surfactant replacement for children whom vou've
diagnosed with respiratory distress syndrome, I
mean. ..

0. Well, how was the standard of care
created? Is it one -- does one article create a

standard of care?

A. Policy statements from -- from
organizations have -- in essence, do that.
Q. Okay. Does 1t say anywhere in here that
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the standard of care is to give children above

2,000 grams --

A. There's no weight determination in
that -- in that statement.

Q. A lot references, correct (indicating)?

A. (Witness reviews document) Yup. Right.

Yeg, but I'm saying the policy itself.

0. Okay. Do any of these articles -- let
me back up.

Do these articles support conclusions
that are reached here? Would you assume that's
the case?

A. Yes.

0. So the support of this policy is found
in these articles, correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Can you show me any of these articles
that administer surfactant that are listed here to
a child larger than 1,750 grams?

A, No. There probably isn't, because
again, we go back to why do they do that? Wwhy
have they picked smaller babies? It's, because
the incidence of the disease is greater in smaller

babies, and in order to make, yvou know, the study
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come through, that's where they pick -- where you .
have the greatest incidence of the disease.

Q. Well, certainly, they could have been
all inclusive when they designed their study,
thouogh, correct?

AL They could have been, vyes.

Q. And they weren't for what reason, or you
don't know?

A Well, uéually the answer is they want to
finish a, vyou know, randomized control study
within a reasonable amount of time. So, in order
to -- you know, meaning a couple of vears rather
than looking at something that happened much less
frequently, the study is going to take longer, or
vou have to get more gstudy centers in order to get
the number of patients.

Q. But, Doctor, what you're sitting here
telling me is there's no difference in giving it
to a large baby as opposed to giving it to a small
baby. 8o why didn't those studies just be all
inclusive, including children that have RDS?

A, Talk to the people who did the studies.

Q. Is it fair to say that a standard of

care jis created by a series of well-controlled
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studiesg?
MR, BECKER: Objection.
You can answer.
A. It certainly goes into developing a

standard of care.

Q. And it's not one person that announces,
This 1s a new standard of care, that develops a
standard of care, correct?

A. No. Usually it's a -- it's a group, as
there is in this situation, and in neonatology,
the committee on fetus and newborn is a group of
pecple that does set standards.

Q. But, again, Doctor, we've talked about
the purpose of this peolicy. You told me the
purpose of the policy was really to give
directiong on how the drug is administered,
correct, not to whom it was administered? Can you
point out anywhere in that article where 1t says
to whom that drug is to be administered?

A No.

Q. Doeg it really talk about how vou give
the drug? I've read 1t a hundred times, and I'm
sure you have, too.

A, Well, vou'wve, probably, read it more

{'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page 147




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R. Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

i3

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

..... . . . . .. L .. Page148
than I have. '

0. All right. Your report specifically
states that Dr. Lilien breached the standard of
care, because in 1999, it was common practice to
treat premature infants with respiratory distress
syndrome who required greater than 30 percent FIO2

and a ventilator mean pressure greater than 8

centimeters of water surfactant. Did I read that
correctliy?

A Correct. Yes.

Q. And, agaln, can you point to one single

article where it says that, if you have a child
that regquires greater than 30 percent FI0Z2 and a
ventilator pressure of 8 centimeters water, you
give them surfactant, no matter what size the
child is?

A, Well, those were very common criteria
used in these studies of development of this
therapy. That's where those numbers coﬁe from,
the Survanta articles -- back in the late *'80s as
well as the Survanta articles.

Q. Well, the admission criteria were
basically i1f the child was on ventilator, correct?

A, Well, they also need other specifics,
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not just on the vent or off the vent.

Q. What are those studies?

A, The more important ones that I can think
of éff the top of my head. There were -- because

for vyears people ask, what are the determinants of
a baby who has -- a premature baby with hyaline
membrane disease is intubated. What are the

criteria for exogenous gsurfactant therapy?

Q. Again, off-label use?
A, It can be.
0. Well, let me ask you this: Doesgs the

manufacturer say that this is the criteria for
giving surfactant?

A, I have not read that, sco I can't -- I
can't comment on that.

These -- these numbers come from the
studies, and they're also clinical parameters that
we've used for many, many years.

Q. That's what I'm interested in. Are

these clinical parameters that were used at

Harvard?
A. Massachusetts General Hospital.
Q. Okay. So these were the standards that,

in your many years of experience, were used at
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Mass. General to give a child surfactant?
A, Correct.
Q. Do vou know if that was the same

standard that was employed in Cleveland, Ohio?
A, I do not.
Q. Do yvou know if that was the same

standard employed in any other hospital in the

country?

A, I do not, because I have not geen the
criteria.

Q. Do vou know if there was anything

written that said this 1s the criteria nationally,
that this is the standard when vou have ~- or are
we talking more about what happened at Mass.
General?

A. Well, these criteria that we use at
Mass. General are from the national studies. If I
have a child on 21 percent oxygen, I usually don't
treat that child with exogenous surfactant.

Q. Okay. You said that these came from the
more important studies that vou recall. Do vyou
recall the authors of any of those studies?

A. I - I don't -—- I don't recall. They'zre

from the late '80s, early '90s.
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Q. Ckay. So, if I generally go back and
look at the literature written in the early -- or
late *80s and early '90s on surfactant therapy,

vou believe that's what I'll find in the majority

of the study?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Okay .

A We didn't make these numbers up out of
the blue.

0. I'm sure you didn't, Doctor, but you

know as well as I know that sometimes the numbers
aren't out there, and some hospitals of the
caliber of Mass. General will say, This is what
makes sense to us, correct?

A. Correct.

0. There are occasions when numbers are not
pulled out of the blue, because I think that's not
a correct characterization, but certainly, there
are times when prestigious institutions like Mass.
General says, There's no criteria out there. This
is what we're going to use, correct?

A. Correct, based on the best data that we

o. Sure.
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e Page 157
A. -- avallable. ’

Q- Sure.
MR. BULLOCH: Take a couple-minute
break, if we could.
(Recess)
BY MR. BULLOCH:
Q. Doctor, I just wanted to clean up one
thing.
We salid something about off-label use.
Another term for off-label use is use of an

approved drug in a nonapproved manner, correct?

A Correct.

@] Not approved by who, the FDA?

Al I assume.

Q Okay. Doctor, if -~ I want to talk
about Matthew for a moment, and -~ and the rest of

my questions today, unless I tell vou otherwise,
will be related to Matthew and specifically about
a child who develops two pneumothoraxes and, as a
result, Plaintiffs' claim developsd cerebral
palsy. QOkay.

A Yes.

Q. And specifically a spastic athetoid type

of cerebral palsy. Have you ever heard of a child
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£88.825.DEPO{3376) * www.court-repotting.com



Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc.,, et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D., et al.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

i8

18

20

21

22

23

24

developing spastic athetoid cerebral palsy ag a
result of a pneumothorax?

A. I don't recail.

Q. Okay. If -- 1f a child had a hypoxic
ischemic event severe encugh during a pneumothorax
to cause cerebral palsy, what would you expect to
see to happen to the child by way of kidney
function?

A. Again, it depends on -- we're getting
into -- vou're not talking about Matthew. That's
why I'm -- I'm confused. You gaid you were

talking about Matthew. Now vou're talking about

generalities.
Q. Why do you think I am not talking about
Matthew?

MR. BECKER: Because you said, "if a
child." How's that?

Q. All right. Let me back up, then.

If Matthew, in fact, developed cerebral
palsy as a regsult of the -- of the two
pneumothoraxes, what would you expect to see to
happen to his liver function or his kidney
function?

A, Maybe something; maybe nothing.
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Usually -~ usually nothing, because it would be
below his -- his kidney function was fine --

Q. Okay.

A. -- other than he did develop an aortic

iot, which was, probably, secondary tc an
umbilical line.

Q. Okay. And that has nothing to do with
an ischemic event is what vou're saying; that has
to do with the line that was --

A, Correct.

0. So, in Matthew's case, there was no hit
on his kidney function, correct?

Al That's correct.

Q. What happened to his liver function?

A. His liver function was essentially
within normal limits.

G. So, essentially, as a result of this
hypoxic ischemic event sufficient to cause
cerebral palsy in Matthew, there was no hit to his
iiver function, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. What about his bone marrow; what
happened to his bone marrow?

A. I'm not aware of anything happening to

R BN S AR S et A P B B e A e R S N R T e
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his bone marrow.

Q. And vou're correct; nothing happened to
his bone marrow. There was no thrombocytopenia
that vou recall, correct?

AL No. That's correct.

Q. So, as a result of this hypoxic ischemic
event sufficient to cause cerebral palsy, there
was no hit to his bone marrow, correct?

A. That's correct, that I'm aware of, ves.

Q. QOkay. If a child has -- well, let me
keep it with Matthew. Did Matthew have coma? Did

he go into coma?

A No, he did not.

Q. Did he have seizures?

A. No, he did not.

Q. Did he have any EEG changes-?

A, He had an EEG on 9/8, which was read as
normal .

Q. 8o, again, answer my guestion: As a

result of this hypoxic ischemic event sufficient
to cause cerebral palsy in this little boy, he had
no EEG changes?

AL Correct.

Q. Okay. Did Matthew experience any
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changes to his head images as --

A. According to the records, well, ves.

o. What was that change?

A. wWell, he had two ultrasounds, which were
normal on the 31lst, and then -- the 31lst of August

and then the 9th of September.

0. Okay. So, as a result of this hypoxic
ischemic event sufficient to cause cerebral palsy
in Matthew, he had no changes in his head

ultrasounds, correct?

AL That is correct.

Q. Okay. What about CTs or any other head
imaging?

A. Well, there was an MRI done on the 9th
of -- excuse me -- the 8th of September, day of

life 16, where they had MRI where they were
guestioning the finding of early periventricular
levkomalacia.

Q. Okay. So can we say -- did Matthew ever
show any signs in his head of edema?

A. Not on ultrasound. You're talking
cerebral edema?

O. Yes.

A, Not on ultrasound and not ags stated on
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MRI report.

Q.

event sufficient to cause cerebral palsy in
Matthew, there was no cerebral edema that you saw,

correct?

A,

Q.

of this hypoxic ischemic event, the only thing
that yvou saw in the medical record as segquelae was

possible periventricular leukomalacia?

A,

Q.

hypoxic ischemic event in the seguelae, correct?

A

Q.

Doctor.

Bachman, who was the head of pediatric neurclogy
at Ohio State University, became Matthew's
subseguent treating pediatric neurologist in North

Carolina?

A.

0.

Page 157

So, as a result of this hypoxic ischemic

That ig correct.

So is it fair to say that, as a result

Correct. In the radiology report, ves.

You saw nothing else consistent with a

I'm sorry. Say that again.
Strike that. You already answered it,
I'm wasting yvour time.

Are you aware of the fact that Dr. David

I have —-- am I aware of that?
Yeah.
No, not at all.
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Q. Okay. Let me represent to you that that
is, in fact, the case, and we have medical records
of Dr. Bachman, and 1n fact, we took Dr. Bachman's
depositicn.

Dr. Bachman testified that he had two
board certified neuroradiologists take a look at
the Fairview films, the MRI and the ultrasounds,
and that both of these neuroradiologists decided
there was no PVL. Now, I'm not asking vou to
accept that it’'s true.

A, Ckay.

Q. That's what's been represented.

A All right.

Q. Now, all that we have from Fairview is

the posgsibility for early PVL, correct?

A, That's what's in the record.
Q. Dr. Bachman testifilied, in fact, what one
of these neuroradiologists said, actually -- this

possible PVL was actually early myelinization,
which i1is a normal finding, correct?

A, It can be, ves.

Q. All right. I want you to assume for the
moment that these two neuroradiologists are

correct, that there's no abnormality in Matthew's

e e e e B S P R T R R R
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. have patients with hyvpexic ischemic cephelopathy,

MRI that was performed at Falrview Hospital. In

that occasion, you can't point to anvthing in the
sequelae -- Matthew's sequelae that is consistent
with a hypoxic ischemic event sufficient to cause
cerebral palsy, correct?

A That's correct, not in the information
I've reviewed.

0. Okay. Now, tell me, Doctor, patients
that have had hypoxic ischemic events in the
necnatal period sufficient not only to cause brain
damage, but sufficient to cause cerebral palsy,
and not only cerebral palsy, a spastic athetoid
cerebral palsy that is affecting even the basil
ganglia, would you expect to see some sequelae
after the hypoxic event in the form of liver
function, kidney function, bone marrow, testings,
seizures, EEG changes or imaging?

A. All I can really tell vyvou is that, ig it
possible? It certainly is. Even in Volpe's book,
it depends, vou know, where the blood flow goes

and where the blcood flow doesn't go, and when you

50 percent of them only have a brain injury. Then

I think there's another 25 percent who had brain
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1 and kidney, and then there's another 25 percent

2 who had other -- other indications.

3 0. What does your experience tell vyou?

4 Should you have seen gsome sequelae from this

5 hypoxic event?

6 A. Well, again, vou're leaping a little bit
7 ahead of where I am. I'm going -- I'm going on

8 the data that was presented to me in the chart.
9 Q. I understand.
10 A. And I'm just going -- yveah. Okay. He
11 had MRI, and he had gquestion of early PVL, and I
iz look at this, and I go, gee, could these two
i3 pneumothoraxes and not -- you know, not meeting

14 what I think the standard of care in treating this

15 child appropriately with exogenocous surfactant, two
16 pneumothoraxes, a lot of hypoxemia, I'm sure some
17 blood pressure problems -- can that cause brain

18 damage? Well, yeah, it can.

19 0. Well, knowing what you know about

20 Matthew, knowing that there was no PVL, there was
21 no seguelae, there was absclutely nothing abnormal
22 on the -- on the head imaging films, is it likely

23 that Matthew's CP wags caused by --

24 MR. BECKER: Objection. He's answered

BRR R R B T B T R S e e e P A S R et
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fhé”éﬁéégiéﬁl John. Now, you know, if he answers
it strongly, then vou're not going to like his
answer .

MR. BULLOCH: So we might be here for a
couple more hours.

MR. BECKER: That's right. So be
careful of what vyvou're asking him.

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. Doctor, I'm asking vyou, would vou expect
to see something on this child if he had a hypoxic
ischemic event?

MR. BECKER: Objection. Asked and
answered.

0. Well, you can answer again.

MR. BULLOCH: Let me finish my gquestion
first, Mike, please.

0. But, 1f a child had a hypoxic ischemic
event sufficient to cause cerebral palsy, would
you expect to see gomething similar, even
including when you said some only have brain, but
wouldn't you expect to see something on the
imaging or some other sequelae?

AL Yes, vou would expect to see something

on MRI image.
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Q. More likely than not?

A Yeah, more likely than noct.
Q. Doctor, you —-- you mentioned to me that

you saw some depressions in, I think, pulse
oximetry or Po2 in the chart. Can you point
specifically to those events?

A, I do have to -- are we going to be here

a lot longer, because I'm supposed to be

somewhere?

Q. No. I promise we'll get you out of
here.

A, If you go to Falirview laboratory and

then go to blood gasses --

Q. Maybe, I can circumvent this for you.
Are you talking about the points in time when
there were gome panic levels reported?

A. Yeah. Okay. I see what you're saying
when yvou call them panic levels, but sure.

Q. Those aren't a panic level for a

neonate, though, are they?

AL A Po2 of 33, absoclutely.

Q. Okay. You would consider that a panic
level?

A, Abgsolutely.
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0. QOkay.
A. Anything under -- you know, I don't
know -- this is a hospilital thing of what can cause

a panic. A normal PaoZ for a baby ig at the
lowest 50. It should be in the sort of 50 to 70
range or, certainly, above 50.

0. Anything above 50 is normal?

A. Right. That's correct. I mean, you
know, we've had 33s and 45s and 32, and I mean,
vou don't have to go through this, but there are
multiple episodes of hypoxemia that I'm concerned
about.

Q. And those aren't prolonged periods,
right? I mean, they're -- they're low, and then
they‘re up; they're low, they're up, correct?

A, Well, vou know, I don't have any -- you
know, when vou look at the flow sheets on the
nurses here, the pulse ox. is always reading
absolutely fine all the time, and I -- I wonder
about some of that when -~ when you have what
these, what you call, panic levels.

Q. Okay .

A, But the child did take hits, and these

are documented hits.
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Q. Now, are -- is it possibléuﬁbuééfuﬁdé
levels that aren't accurate?

Al Of course, it is.

Q. And vou get those sometimes with

arteriole sticks, I understand.

A. I'm talking about the arteriole Pol2s --
Q. Okay .
A -- not the capillary sticks, which

happen a little kit later on.

Q. Okay. And you can get erroneous results
with arteriole sticks, too, can't you?

A Yes, you can, but you can get erroneous
results with any laboratory tests.

Q. Doctor, I think I am done. I'1ll get you
out of here. I apoclogize for being so lengthy.

A, Qkay.

Q. I appreciate your cooperation and not
getting too angry at me in front of my boss.
Thanks.

(Discussion off the record)

BY MR. BULLOCH:

Q. We did mark your notes --
A. Right.
O, -- as an exhibit, and I would ask that

O'Brien & Levine Court Reporting Services
888.825.DEPO(3376) * www.court-reporting.com

Page. 164 i




Jonathan H. Cronin, M.D. 6/19/2006
Matthew Chase Wagoner, etc., et al. v. Mark R, Evans, M.D., et al.

1 vou give those to the court reporter. She'll copy
2 all of the exhibits and then send them back to
3 vou.

4 Let me gee those notes real quick,

5 Doctor. I did tell you I might have you read

6 them.
7 I think I can read these pretty well. I
8 used to be a pharmacist, so your writing really

S ign't that bad. OCkay.

10 A. All right.

11 (Whereupon the deposition
12 concluded at 6:20 p.m.)
13
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The original of the Errata Sheet has
been delivered to Michael F. Becker, Esquire.

When the Errata Sheet has been completed
by the deponent and signed, a copy thereof should
be delivered to each party of record and the
ORIGINAL forwarded to John T. Bulloch, Esguire, to
whom the original deposition transcript was

delivered.

INSTRUCTIONS TO DEPONENT

After reading this volume of vyour deposition,
please indicate any corrections or changes to your
testimony and the reasons therefor on the Errata
Sheet supplied to you and sign it. DO NOT make
marks or notations on the transcript volume
itself. Add additional sheets if necessary.
Please refer fo the above instructions for errata

sheet distribution information.
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I have read the foregoing
transcript of my deposition and except for any
corrections or changes noted above, I hereby
subscribe to the transcript as an accurate record
of the statements made by me.

Executed this _  day of

., 2006.
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS )

SUFFOLK, SS. )

I, Valerie Rae Johnston, Shorthand Reporter
and Notary Public in and for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, do hereby certify that there came
before me on the 19th day of June 2006, at 3:10
p.m., the person hereinbefore named, who was by me
duly sworn to testify to the truth and nothing but
the truth of his knowledge touching and concerning
the matters in controversy in the cause; that he
was thereupon examined upon his ocath, and his
examination reduced to typewriting under my
direction; and that the deposition is a true
record of the testimony given by the witness.

I further certify that I am neither attorney
or counsel for, nor related to or employed by, any
attorney or counsel emploved by the parties hereto
or financially interested in the action.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my
hand and affixed my notarial seal this _____ day of

June 2006.

Notary Public

My commission expiregs: 8/05/2008
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